Florida International University FIU Digital Commons

FIU Electronic Theses and Dissertations

University Graduate School

6-28-2022

Hydration Status, Association of Body Composition and Bone Mass in Children and Adolescents

Priscilla Kay Clayton Florida International University, pclay005@fiu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.fiu.edu/etd

• Part of the Nutrition Commons

Recommended Citation

Clayton, Priscilla Kay, "Hydration Status, Association of Body Composition and Bone Mass in Children and Adolescents" (2022). *FIU Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 5009. https://digitalcommons.fiu.edu/etd/5009

This work is brought to you for free and open access by the University Graduate School at FIU Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in FIU Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of FIU Digital Commons. For more information, please contact dcc@fiu.edu.

FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY

Miami, Florida

HYDRATION STATUS, ASSOCIATION OF BODY COMPOSITION AND BONE MASS IN CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

DIETETICS AND NUTRITION

by

Priscilla Clayton

To: Dean Tomás Guilarte Robert Stempel College of Public Health and Social Work

This dissertation, written by Priscilla Clayton, and entitled Hydration Status, Association of Body Composition and Bone Mass in Children and Adolescents, having been approved in respect to style and intellectual content, is referred to you for judgment.

We have read this dissertation and recommend that it be approved.

Fatma G. Huffman

Juan Liuzzi

Zoran Bursac

Cristina Palacios, Major Professor

Date of Defense: June 28, 2022

The dissertation of Priscilla Clayton is approved.

Dean Tomás Guilarte Robert Stempel College of Public Health and Social Work

Andrés G. Gil Vice President for Research and Economic Development And Dean of the University Graduate School

Florida International University, 2022

© Copyright 2022 by Priscilla Clayton

All rights reserved.

DEDICATION

I dedicate this dissertation to my mother and father, my best friends who instilled the principles of hard work, who have fueled my ambitiousness and drive, and who never failed to stand by me during this journey. Through my parents I learned to appreciate even the smallest of victories, to never give up, and to be the best version of myself. This work is also dedicated to my aunt Velvett, who showed me that the world is filled with so many possibilities if you only apply yourself and have faith. This work is also dedicated to all of those in my community that never ceased to provide support, inspiration, and share their mutual love for science and nutrition. Without each of you, I would not be the individual I am today.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I wish to thank each member of my dissertation committee for providing their guidance, wisdom, and patience. Each one of you has played a vital part in my growth and love for research. My sincerest gratitude goes to my major professor, Dr. Cristina Palacios. Thank you for your mentorship, for sharing your own passion for research, and for constantly challenging each of us as future researchers. I would also like to thank our research team, the MetA-Bone Trial, for their unlimited support as each of you made this possible. I want to thank Dr. Huffman for her kind invitation to FIU back in 2014 as you saw my potential and nominated me for the McNair Scholar Fellowship. Special thanks also go out to each of the faculty and staff in our Dietetics and Nutrition Department at FIU for their mentorship and endless opportunities to grow and learn. Finally, I would like to thank the McNair Scholar Program at Abilene Christian University and Florida International University for their years of support and for constantly encouraging diverse and underrepresented students to pursue a higher education.

This study was funded in part by the National Institutes of Health (Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, NICHD), grant number 1R01HD098589-01.

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

HYDRATION STATUS, ASSOCIATION OF BODY COMPOSITION AND BONE MASS IN CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS

by

Priscilla Clayton

Florida International University, 2022

Miami, Florida

Professor Cristina Palacios, Major Professor

The objective of this study was 1) to evaluate which foods or beverages are significantly associated with an objective marker of hydration status (USG), to examine the association between hydration status or total fluid intake with body fat % and fat-free mass (FFM) (2) and bone mineral density (BMD) and bone mineral content (BMC) (3) in children (10-13y) and adolescents (18-20y). Intake was assessed from three 24-hour dietary recalls and analyzed using the Nutrition Data System for Research (NDSR). Hydration status was objectively measured using USG via 24-hour urine collection and body composition and all bone parameters were measured using the Dual-X-Ray Absorptiometry Scan (DEXA). Descriptive statistics, independent t-test, Shapiro-wilk test, and multiple linear and logistic regressions were conducted to analyze the data.

A total of 52 children (n=18) and adolescents (n=34) were recruited (50% females). Mean age was 17.0 ± 3.72 years, most participants were white (57.7%), and reported being Hispanic (73.1%). Intake of fruit juice, water, all beverages, and total water intake from all sources was significantly (p<0.05) and inversely correlated with USG scores in the overall sample. Also, intake of water, fruit juice, all beverages, and

total water intake from all sources was significantly associated with a higher odd of being euhydrated (p<0.05). Total water intake from all sources was a significant predictor of FFM (p<0.05), lean mass (p<0.05), and body fat% (p<0.05) in the overall and children group. For FFM and lean mass, those with a lower total water intake from all sources had 4.40 times higher odds of being below the median than those with higher total water intake from all sources (OR 4.40, 95% CI: 1.05, 18.5, p=0.043). For BMC, those with lower total water intake from all sources had 3.57 times higher odds of being below the median than those with higher total water intake from all sources (OR 3.57, 95% CI: 1.38, 11.19, p=0.029).

Our data suggested that 1) water, fruit juice, and total water intake from all sources is significantly associated with hydration status; 2) total water intake from all sources is associated with FFM and lean mass; and 3) total water intake from all sources is associated with BMC. Future research should include a larger and more generalizable sample. The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Florida International University (IRB-22-0045).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
Assessment of hydration	2
Evaluation of questionnaires to estimate hydration against objective markers	
of hydration	5
Hydration and weight status or obesity	7
Mechanism explaining association between hydration and weight status	9
Exploration of the association between hydration and bone	11
Specific Aims and Hypotheses	13
References	14

CHAPTER II: THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN HYDRATION STATUS AND	
TOTAL FLUID INTAKE IN HEALTHY CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS	19
Introduction	19
Methods	20
Results	24
Discussion	

CHAPTER III: THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN HYDRATION STATUS AND BODY COMPOSITION IN HEALTHY CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS. Methods. 39 Results.

CHAPTER IV: EXPLORING THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN HYDRATION	
STATUS AND BONE MASS IN HEALTHY CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS	55
Introduction	.55
Methods	56
Results	.61
Discussion	.66
CHAPTER V: SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	72
CHAPTER VI: STRENGTH AND LIMITATIONS	74
APPENDICES	76
VITA	91

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE PAGE
CHAPTER II
Table 1. Characteristics of study population (N=52)
Table 2. Intake of foods and beverages in children (10-13y) and adolescents (18-20y)26
Table 3. Hydration status using an objective marker of hydration status (USG)in children (10-13y) and adolescents (18-20y)
Table 4. Total water intake from all sources in children (10-13y) and adolescents(18-20y) by sex and comparison with the dietary reference intakes (DRIs)for total fluid intake
Table 5. Spearman correlations between intake type and hydration status in children(10-13y) and adolescents (18-20y)
Table 6. Binary logistic regression between intake type and hydration status in children (10-13y) and adolescents (18-20y)
CHAPTER III
Table 1. Characteristics of the study population (N=52)43
Table 2. Linear regression between total water intake (assessed from 24-h food recalls)and body composition (assessed from DEXA scan) in children (10-13y)and adolescents (18-20y)
Table 4. Logistic regression between hydration categories and total water intake categories and body composition categories in the sample
CHAPTER IV
Table 1. Characteristics of the study population (N=52)61
Table 2. Linear regressions between hydration status (assessed from USG in 24-hurine samples) and BMD and BMC (assessed from a DEXA scan) in children(10-13y) and adolescents (18-20y)
Table 3. Linear regressions between total water intake (assessed from 24-h food recalls) and BMD and BMC (assessed from a DEXA scan)

in children (10-13y) and adolescents (18-20y).	63
Table 4. Logistic regression between hydration categories and total water intake	
categories and BMD and BMC categories in the sample.	65

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

DRI	Dietary Reference Intake
NHANES	National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey
USG	Urine Specific Gravity
FWR	Free Water Reserve
TBW	Total Body Water
SFT	Skin Fold Thickness
BIA	Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis
WBQ	Water Balance Questionnaire
HSQ-AY	Hydration Status Questionnaire
BEVQ	Beverage Intake Questionnaire
DEXA	Dual X-Ray Absorptiometry Scan
BMI	Body Mass Index
FFM	Fat Free Mass
ADH or AVP	Anti-Diuretic Hormone or Arginine Vasopressin
ANG	Angiotensin
AT	Adipose Tissue
BM	Bone Mass
BMD	Bone Mineral Density
BMC	Bone Mineral Content
MM	Muscle Mass
ssNMR	State Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

Water is a key component of hydration and plays a variety of important physiological roles in the body as it is essential to cells, tissues, and organs.¹ At infancy, total body water (TBW) represents approximately 75% of an infant's body weight, and in children/adolescents, it decreases to 65%.^{1,2} To maintain this level of water in the body in children, the Dietary Reference Intakes (DRI) for water in the US was established at 2,100 mL/d for girls and 2,400 mL/d for boys ages 9-13 years, 2300 mL/d for girls and 3300 mL/d for boys ages 14-18 years, 2700 mL/d for women and 3700 mL/d for men ages 19-30 years.³ DRIs were set based on median intakes of total water from drinking water, beverages, and foods from NHANES data.³ However, data from NHANES 2005-2010 among 4,766 children 4-13 years in the US showed that 75% of children 4-8y, 87% of girls 9-13y, and 85% of boys 9-13y did not meet DRIs for total water intake.⁴ Adolescents ages 14-20 years failed to meet the adequate water intake as those ages 12-19 years met only 2400 mL/d and those ages 19-20 years met only 1050 mL/d.⁴ The study found the main contributor of total fluid intake was water and other beverages (70-75%).⁴Another study using data from NHANES 2009-2012 among 4,134 participants ages 6 to 19 years using an objective marker of hydration (urine osmolality) showed that 55% had inadequate hydration (urine osmolality > 800 mOsm/kg).^{5,6} They also found that boys (OR = 1.76; 95% CI = 1.49, 2.07) and non-Hispanic Blacks (OR = 1.34; 95% CI = 1.04, 1.74) were at significantly higher risk for inadequate hydration.⁵After adjusting for age, race/ethnicity, sex, income, time of examination, and BMI, they found that an increase in an 8-fluid ounce serving of plain water was associated with a -8.0 mOsm/kg decrease in urine osmolality (95% CI = -11.7, -4.2).^{5,6} Another study among Spanish adolescents ages 12-18 years found a high

percentage not meeting the water intake recommendations (72% males and 69% females) and that 71% of boys and 65% of girls had inadequate hydration (urine osmolality > 800 mOsm/kg).⁷ Among Greek children ages 8-14, the prevalence of hypohydration (assessed from urine osmolality >800 mmol/kg) was 44% in boys and 23% in girls.⁸ Among Belgium children ages 7-13, the prevalence of hypohydration (assessed from urine osmolality >800 mmol/kg) was 54%.⁹

Low water intake or mild hypohydration can result in a decrease in exercise performance, mood and fatigue, glucose regulation, blood vessel function, thermoregulation, and impaired cognitive function.¹⁰ Hypohydration is also associated with chronic diseases such as hypertension, obesity, stroke, coronary heart disease, and venous thromboembolism.^{10,11} This has been demonstrated as a result of enhanced serumand glucocorticoid-inducible kinase and plasma sodium, which play a role in the pathophysiology of each.¹⁰

Assessment of hydration

The studies reviewed have demonstrated the need to adopt adequate hydration habits early in life, along with the need to evaluate adequate water intake in children and adolescents.^{4,12,13} Understanding the different markers to assess hydration in these groups is essential, considering that each of these markers can be used in other laboratory conditions, clinical practices, and sports.¹³ Therefore, studies have utilized several different objective markers to assess hydration in children and adolescents, such as urine osmolality, urine specific gravity (USG), urine color, and free water reserve (FWR).

Objective markers of hydration

- 1. Urine osmolality is based on the number of osmotic solutes present in the urine and the volume of water with very high sensitivity (91%).¹³ Urine osmolality reflects how the kidney responds to the variations in the body's water balance, and results can range from 50 to 1400 mOsm/kg.¹³ Among healthy individuals, dehydration results in a small volume of highly concentrated urine, increasing osmolality.¹³ This can be detected by using either a freezing-point or vapour pressure-depression osmometer and with the use of a random or 24-hour urine collection.¹³
- 2. Free water reserve (FWR) is the difference between the measured urine volume (ml/24-h) and the ideal urine volume (ml/24-h) required to excrete the necessary 24-hour urine solutes (mOsm/24-h).¹⁴ The obligatory urine volume (mL/24 h) derives from the excreted 24-h urine solutes (mOsm/24 h; mainly determined by urinary concentrations of nitrogen, sodium, potassium, and phosphorus).¹⁴ FWR is calculated by subtracting the 24-hour urine volume from the obligatory urine volume. These results are then divided by the 97th percentile of urine osmolality for healthy children and adolescents with an adequate water intake of 830 mOsm/kg; this indicates the upper hydration limit for children with a typical western diet.¹⁵ Positive values indicate euhydration, and negative values indicate risk of hypohydration.^{11,15} This measure, however, has no results reported for sensitivity or specificity.
- 3. **Urine specific gravity** (USG) is considered the weight of urine with an equal volume of distilled water.¹³According to the National Collegiate Athletic Association, the range used to identify dehydration is defined as a value over 1.020-1.025, with a normal urine sample ranging from 1.013-1.020.^{13,16}The gold standard measurement

for USG is using refractometry.¹³USG has similar specificity as urine osmolality and, therefore is the recommended test for hydration status in relatively large population studies.¹³Also, USG and urine color can be easily performed and can be carried out quickly compared to urine osmolality which requires technical expertise.¹³ Therefore, this study will use USG as a measure of hydration.

- 4. Total body water content (TBW) represents about 60% of an individual's body weight, in which any changes in body water can be determined by body weight changes.¹³ Many approaches are available to measure TBW: skinfold-thickness (SFT), bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA), differential X-ray absorptiometry, computerized tomography scanning, underwater weight, or air displacement.¹⁷ The most direct and accurate method to assess TBW has been the use of isotope dilution.¹⁷ Though changes in body composition can make this specific measure unstable in studies of long duration and are best used in studies involving sports activities or intense exercising.¹⁷
- 5. Urine color, a common marker used for assessing hydration, was developed to evaluate the urine of healthy individuals.¹³ A standardized color scale was developed and ranged from 1 (pale yellow, diluted urine) to 8 (dark brown, concentrated urine).¹³Advantages of using urine color as a tool to measure hydration are that it is both cheap and non-invasive. However, it has a lower sensitivity score (81%) than USG and urine osmolality. In addition, it may be challenging to apply to large-sample studies.¹³

Non-objective markers of hydration

There are different ways to assess hydration from questionnaires: beverage intake, water from solid and fluid food sources, sweating (physical activity or sedentary conditions), and frequency of urination and defecation. There are several questionnaires specifically developed to assess this. For example, the Water Balance Questionnaire (WBQ) in adults¹⁸ and the Hydration Status Questionnaire (HSQ-AY) in children ages 12-18 years.¹⁹ Other studies have also used 24-h recalls and records to evaluate hydration, although errors have been linked to recalling and estimating the portions of intake.²⁰ The next section discusses the evaluation of these non-objective markers of hydration against objective markers.

Evaluation of questionnaires to estimate hydration against objective markers of hydration

There are limited studies available that have evaluated questionnaires to evaluate hydration status in children and adolescents against an objective marker. Most studies have explored this in adults. ^{18,21} The Water Balance Questionnaire (WBQ), which takes into account consumption of intake of foods and beverages, physical activity, sweating, urination, and defecation, found moderate agreement when tested against urine volume, urine color, and urine osmolality in adults.¹⁸ The beverage intake questionnaire (BEVQ) showed a negative correlation between USG and total daily beverage consumption at different times in adults (r range -0.202, -0.238; p < 0.05).²¹ However, there are only a few studies with children and adolescents. The BEVQ (used in adults) was modified for children and adolescents (BEVQ-15), but it was not evaluated against an objective marker.²² Similarly, the Beverage Frequency Questionnaire and the Block Kids Food

Screener (BKFS) have been used to assess beverage intake in children but neither has been evaluated against an objective marker. ^{20,22}

To date, there are only 3 studies that have associated intake of food and beverages from the questionnaire with an objective marker. ^{7,19,23} The first study correlated the Hydration Status Questionnaire (HSQ-AY), a modified version of HSQ developed in adults, with the results from USG, urine color, and TBW in Spanish adolescents 12-17 years old.¹⁹ Moderate agreement between water balance and total water intake was found with USG (r = -0.202, p = 0.023 and r = -0.184, p = 0.03, respectively).¹⁹ Total water intake was also correlated with TBW (r = 0.263, p = 0.003).¹⁹However, this study did not use a 24-hour urine sample and the measurement of USG was conducted with the use of a reagent strip, which is not the gold standard for measuring USG.¹⁹ The second study correlated food and beverage intake from 24-h dietary recalls to urine osmolality among 194 Spanish adolescents ages 12-18 years.⁷ They found that consumption of fruits and urine osmolality were significant in both girls ($\beta = -0.41$; 95% CI -0.73,-0.10, p = 0.01) and boys ($\beta = -0.41$; 95% CI -0.63, -0.19, p = 0.00).⁷ Additional significant association were found for intake of vegetables (excluding potatoes) in boys ($\beta = -0.60$; 95% CI -1.02, -0.18, p = 0.01) and dairy drinks in girls (β = -0.39; 95% CI -0.76, -0.02, p = 0.04).⁷ However, the study only collected first-morning urine which is not representative of the participant's 24-hour hydration.⁷ The third study associated the results from 3-day food records with FWR among 424 German children ages 4-10 years.²³Results showed a significant association between intake of fruits and vegetables, juice, water, and milk with FWR in both boys and girls (p<0.001).²³The highest association with FWR was found for intake of fruits and vegetables in boys ($\beta = 0.56$; 95% CI 0.33, 0.79) and for

water intake in girls ($\beta = 0.55$; 95% CI 0.48, 0.63).²³ Though significant association was found in water and fruit and vegetable intake with hydration status and they collected 24-hour urine, the study only included children ages 4-10 years and hydration status was calculated directly to measure hydration status.

In summary, the three studies available to date evaluating hydration status from questionnaires against an objective marker, have all shown some limitations. The studies have used different questionnaires and objective markers of hydration, not all studies collected a 24-hour urine collection, and they have been conducted in different populations of European children and adolescents. The current study evaluated which particular food or beverage intake from 24-h dietary recalls is significantly associated with an objective marker of hydration (USG from 24-h urine collection) in a sample of children and adolescents ages 10-20 years in the US. By determining which component of diet better predicts hydration status in children and adolescents, can help future studies to focus on the type of beverage and foods that may contribute to hydration.

Hydration and weight status or obesity

There is some evidence that hydration may be associated with weight status. This is important as childhood obesity continues to be a major public health concern in the US, with 19.1% of boys and 17.8% of girls ages 2-19 years in the US being obese.^{13,24,25} This, in turn, increases other conditions, such as diabetes mellitus, hypertension, coronary artery disease, cancer, and sleep apnea.^{13,24} In adults, a study using data from NHANES 2009-2012 showed that those inadequately hydrated, which was measured by urine osmolality, had significantly higher BMI (P<0.001) and had higher odds of being obese (OR=1.59; 95% CI, 1.35-1.88, P<0.001) compared to those adequately hydrated.²⁶

Similar results were found in 1500 Portuguese adults, with the greatest odds of obesity (OR = 1.97, 95% CI, 1.06-3.66) in men in the highest osmolality tertile (\geq 602.1 mOsm/kg) compared to the lowest tertile.²⁷ Furthermore, in 260 Spanish adults, higher odds of obesity was found among those with higher urine osmolality (OR 1.00; 95% CI 1.00-1.01, P = 0.05) and USG (OR 1.02; 95% CI 1.00-1.04, p = 0.05).²⁸ This evidence suggests an association between hydration and obesity.

In children and adolescents, there is less evidence available associating an objective marker of hydration with weight or obesity. A study among 86 obese and 89 normal weight Italian children ages 7-11 years found that hypohydration, assessed using FWR, was found in 34% of obese and 20% of normal-weight children (p<0.05).⁷They also found that fat mass, assessed from bioimpedance, (r = -0.17, p < 0.05), BMI z-score (r=-0.18, P< 0.05), and waist-to-hip ratio (r = -0.17, p < 0.05), were all significantly associated with the hydration status in these children.⁷Another study among 371 Belgian children ages 7-13 years found that BMI was a significant predictor of total fluid intake ($\beta = 0.110$, p = 0.038), although no significant association was found between fluid intake and osmolality during the day (p = 0.283).⁹The authors explained the lack of association related to the lack of representativeness of the pooled urine samples for the whole school day.⁹

There are also a few studies associating hydration status (total water intake) assessed from questionnaires with weight status. One study among 366 Spanish children ages 9-11 years found a positive association between water intake, as assessed from 24-h dietary recalls, with BMI (p<0.001), waist circumference (p<0.001), and body fat (p<0.004) fat-free mass (p<0.001), assessed via bioimpedance analysis.²⁹ Another study

among 372 healthy Spanish adolescents ages 12-18 years old found that water intake, assessed from the HSQ-AY questionnaire, was inversely correlated with BMI in boys (r = -0.548, p=0.000) and girls (r = -0.376, p<0.001).³⁰ Water intake, adjusted for body weight, was inversely associated with fat (β = -1.04; 95 CI, -1.43 to - 0.66, p<0.001) and dry lean body mass (β = 0.27; 95 CI, -5.51 to – 2.17, p<0.001).³⁰However, none of the studies used dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA), which is considered the gold standard for measuring body composition.³¹ In addition, the few studies to date were done in European populations.

The current study evaluated the association between hydration using USG as an objective marker from a 24-hour urine collection and also from three 24-h dietary recalls with body composition as measured using DEXA.

Mechanism explaining association between hydration and weight status

Several mechanisms may explain how hydration is associated with weight or obesity. One of the mechanisms may be related to the anti-diuretic hormone (ADH) or also known as arginine vasopressin (AVP), the principal hormone for the regulation of body fluid by stimulating thirst.^{24,32,33} Studies in rats show that, as intracellular and extracellular dehydration occurs, ADH is released from the neurohypophysis and results in a decrease in blood volume and an increase in plasma osmolality, resulting in regulation of the body and cellular hydration.²⁴An elevated ADH response results in an enzymatic release of renin in the kidneys to produce angiotensinogen in the blood to produce angiotensin I (AngI) which is responsible for producing AngII. Once AngII has been produced, this aids in the stimulation of thirst to allow blood volume to return to normal levels.²⁴However, due to ADH being a relatively short-lived peptide, the stable

analog copeptin, a derivative precursor of ADH, is considered a reliable surrogate marker of fluid intake in plasma.^{32,33} Elevation of copeptin in rats showed to be associated with metabolic syndrome and obesity as higher fluid intake results in a lower serum copeptin and lower body weight, body fat percentage, and fat mass.³³

Another mechanism to explain this association is through changes in lipolysis.²⁴ This process occurs in all triglyceride storing tissues, although adipose tissue (AT) reflects the majority of lipolytic activity.³⁴ Adipose tissue (AT), a major organ for energy storage, secretes adipokines to regulate lipid metabolism by lipogenesis and lipolysis.³⁵ During energy demands, through fasting or physical exercise, adipocytes in the AT mobilize stored fat, in which triglycerides are then broken down to fulfill energy needs by supplying it throughout the body,³⁵however the metabolism of an adipocyte may be dictated based on the cell's hydration status. When the adipocyte is euhydrated, (sufficient water intake) both glucose and free fatty acids produce triglycerides, in which the rate of lipolysis is dependent on the need for ATP in the cell. However, during hyperosmolality (insufficient water intake), the adipocyte becomes dehydrated, and free fatty acids are unable to be metabolized in the mitochondria as an excess of triglycerides began to form; this may occur when the urine osmolality threshold is approximately 280 mOsm/L and elevated urine osmolality above 800 mOsm/L.^{24,36} The underlying cause of the excess production of triglycerides that occur during dehydration is due to the increase in the glycerol transporter, aquaporin 9 (AQP9) that produces an excess amount of glycerol.²⁴ Furthermore, glucose uptake continues in the adipocyte that is stimulated by insulin, thus also increasing the synthesis of triglycerides.²⁴ Therefore, hydration may lead to a reduction in the upregulation of glycerol and triglycerides and increase cell

volume, this resulting in an increase in insulin sensitivity while enhancing mitochondrial function and metabolism.²⁴

This mechanism has been explored in one study in adults. The study was conducted with 10 healthy young males, ages 25 years old, to examine whole-body lipolysis and lipid oxidation and whether this was affected by hypo- and hyper-osmolality conditions.^{34,37} The young males had an average BMI of $23.0 \pm 0.8 \text{ kg/m}^{2}$.^{34,37} Lipolysis was measured by glycerol rate of appearance (glycerol R_a) via stable isotope method and indirect calorimetry. Results showed after a 14h fast, glycerol R_a was higher during hypoosmolality than during iso-osmolality (sufficient fluid balance) ($2.35 \pm 0.40 \text{ vs} 1.68 \pm$ 0.21 mmol/kg/min, P=0.03). The study showed that high fluid consumption leading to hypo-osmolality suggested a reduction in body fat, therefore, promoting lipolysis.^{34,37} Therefore, a relationship between hydration and weight status is evident, although the limitations of this study were that it did not include children and adolescents and the study required a strict intervention (infusions and strict fasting) that may be too invasive for this group.

Exploration of the association between hydration and bone

This study explored if hydration is associated with bone mass, although less evidence is available. This is important to evaluate as low bone mass is highly prevalent in the US (43.9% in adults).³⁸ One of the main determinants of low bone mass in older adults is behavior during puberty, as a large proportion of bone mass is acquired during this stage.³⁸ The onset of bone mineral accretion is at approximately 12.5 ± 0.90 years in girls and 14.1 ± 0.95 years in boys ages 8-14 years and during a 3- to 4-year period, in which 40% of the total lifetime bone mass is achieved.³⁹ Therefore, the importance of

proper dietary practices along with the lifestyle factors of the child, impact the prevalence of low bone mass in later adulthood.

There are 2 studies in the literature that have explored this association in adults. The first study was conducted on older adults to evaluate bone mass and muscle mass. Results showed that those that were adequately hydrated, which was measured by total body water (TBW), had a lower risk of osteoporosis (OR = 0.76, 95% CI, 0.66-0.88, P < 0.0001).⁴⁰ The second study in 30 healthy male students administered a fluid and salt supplementation found a significant effect of the supplementation on bone mineral density as measured by DEXA (r = 0.93, p < 0.05).⁴¹ This same study also found a significant increase in several parts of the bone (i.e. trabecular bone volume, cortical thickness, trabecular plate thickness, and density) on bone mineralization with the fluid and salt supplementation.⁴² To date, there are no studies evaluating this in children and adolescents.

The potential mechanisms explaining the association between hydration and bone are related to the composition of bone, as water contributes approximately 20% of its wet weight and is a third major component of bone.⁴² There is water in the microscopic pores of bone (known as mobile water or the free water content of bone) and also in the extracellular matrix of bone tissue (known as bound water), where the residues of collagen reside.⁴³ Collagen is an important protein for the strength of the bone and water has been shown to affect its shock-absorbing capacity.⁴² An *in vitro* study using the state nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (ssNMR) found a decline in native collagen with dehydration, specifically low content of the mobile water.⁴⁴ This dehydration resulted in an exchange of hydrogen to deuterium, a water-mediated interaction, which

appeared to affect bone mechanical properties and it also decreased bone quality.⁴⁴ Also using NMR, a study of 18 specimens of human femurs collected from 18 middle-ages and elderly male donors showed significant changes in bound water by the toughness and strength of the bones.⁴³ Based on this limited evidence, both mobile and bound water could affect bone. However, there are no *in vivo* studies providing physiological evidence on whether hydration directly affects bone mass in children or adults.

Therefore, the current study explored the potential association between hydration (measured using USG from a 24-hour urine collection and estimated from three 24-h dietary recalls) and bone mass (measured using DEXA) in children and adolescents.

Specific Aims and Hypotheses

To address the gaps on hydration, body fat percentage, fat-free mass, and bone mass, the aims of the study were:

Specific Aim 1: To evaluate which particular food or beverage intake (assessed from three 24-h dietary recalls) is significantly associated with an objective marker of hydration (measured using USG from a 24-hour urine collection) in children and adolescents. It is hypothesized that USG will be associated with the type and quantity of the liquid consumed and foods consumed.

Specific Aim 2: To examine the association between hydration status (measured from USG in a 24-h urine sample and assessed from three 24-h dietary recalls) and body fat percentage and fat-free mass (assessed from DEXA) in children and adolescents. It is hypothesized that a higher hydration status will be associated with a lower body fat percentage and higher fat-free mass (FFM) (after controlling for important covariates).

Exploratory aim: To explore the association between hydration status (measured from USG in a 24-h urine sample and assessed from three 24-h dietary recalls) and bone mass (assessed from DEXA) in children and adolescents. It is hypothesized that a higher hydration status will be associated with a higher bone mass.

References

- 1. Suh HG, Kavouras SA. Water intake and hydration state in children. *European Journal of Nutrition*. 2019;58(2):475-496. doi:10.1007/s00394-018-1869-9
- 2. Vega RM AU. *Pediatric Dehydration*. StatPearls Publishing; 2020. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK436022/
- 3. Institute of Medicine (U.S.). Panel on Dietary Reference Intakes for Electrolytes and Water. *DRI, Dietary Reference Intakes for Water, Potassium, Sodium, Chloride, and Sulfate*. National Academies Press; 2004.
- 4. Drewnowski A, Rehm CD, Constant F. Water and beverage consumption among adults in the United States: cross-sectional study using data from NHANES 2005–2010. *BMC Public Health*. 2013;13(1):1068. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-13-1068
- 5. Vieux F, Maillot M, Rehm CD, Barrios P, Drewnowski A. Trends in tap and bottled water consumption among children and adults in the United States: analyses of NHANES 2011–16 data. *Nutrition Journal*. 2020;19(1). doi:10.1186/S12937-020-0523-6
- 6. Vieux F, Maillot M, Rehm CD, Barrios P, Drewnowski A. Trends in tap and bottled water consumption among children and adults in the United States: analyses of NHANES 2011–16 data. *Nutrition Journal*. 2020;19(1). doi:10.1186/S12937-020-0523-6
- Iglesia I, Santaliestra-Pasías AM, Bel-Serrat S, Sadalla-Collese T, Miguel-Berges ML, Moreno LA. Fluid consumption, total water intake and first morning urine osmolality in Spanish adolescents from Zaragoza: Data from the HELENA study. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2016;70(5):541-547. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2015.203
- 8. Kavouras SA, Bougatsas D, Johnson EC, Arnaoutis G, Tsipouridi S, Panagiotakos DB. Water intake and urinary hydration biomarkers in children. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2017;71(4):530-535. doi:10.1038/EJCN.2016.218
- 9. Michels N, van den Bussche K, vande Walle J, de Henauw S. Belgian primary school children's hydration status at school and its personal determinants.

European Journal of Nutrition. 2017;56(2):793-805. doi:10.1007/s00394-015-1126-4

- 10. Watso JC, Farquhar WB. Hydration status and cardiovascular function. *Nutrients*. 2019;11(8). doi:10.3390/nu11081866
- 11. Padrão P, Neto M, Oliveira AC, Moreira A, Moreira P. Urinary hydration biomarkers and dietary intake in children. *Nutricion Hospitalaria*. 2016;33:35-40. doi:10.20960/nh.314
- Kenney EL, Long MW, Cradock AL, Gortmaker SL. Prevalence of Inadequate Hydration Among US Children and Disparities by Gender and Race/Ethnicity: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2009–2012. *American Journal of Public Health*. 2015;105(8):e113-e118. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2015.302572)
- 13. Baron S, Courbebaisse M, Lepicard EM, Friedlander G. Assessment of hydration status in a large population. *British Journal of Nutrition*. 2015;113(1):147-158. doi:10.1017/S0007114514003213
- 14. Manz F, Wentz A. 24-h hydration status: Parameters, epidemiology and recommendations. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2003;57(SUPPL.2). doi:10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601896
- Maffeis C, Tommasi M, Tomasselli F, et al. Fluid intake and hydration status in obese vs normal weight children. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2016;70(5):560-565. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2015.170
- Sommerfield LM, McAnulty SR, McBride JM, et al. Validity of Urine Specific Gravity When Compared With Plasma Osmolality as a Measure of Hydration Status in Male and Female NCAA Collegiate Athletes. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*. 2016;30(8):2219-2225. doi:10.1519/JSC.00000000001313
- Smith D, Engel B, Diskin AM, Spane P, Davies SJ. Comparative Measurements of Total Body Water in Healthy Volunteers by Online Breath Deuterium Measurement and Other Near-Subject Methods 1-3. Vol 76.; 2002. https://academic.oup.com/ajcn/article-abstract/76/6/1295/4689575
- Malisova O, Bountziouka V, Panagiotakos DB, Zampelas A, Kapsokefalou M. The water balance questionnaire: Design, reliability and validity of a questionnaire to evaluate water balance in the general population. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*. 2012;63(2):138-144. doi:10.3109/09637486.2011.607799

- 19. García AIL, Samaniego-Vaesken MDL, Partearroyo T, Varela-Moreiras G. Adaptation and validation of the hydration status questionnaire in a spanish adolescent-young population: A cross sectional study. *Nutrients*. 2019;11(3). doi:10.3390/nu11030565
- Nissensohn M, Ruano C, Serra-Majem L. Validation of beverage intake methods vs. hydration biomarker; A short review. *Nutricion Hospitalaria*. 2013;28(6):1815-1819. doi:10.3305/nh.2013.28.6.6886
- 21. Hedrick VE, Comber DL, Estabrooks PA, Savla J, Davy BM. The Beverage Intake Questionnaire: Determining Initial Validity and Reliability. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2010;110(8):1227-1232. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2010.05.005
- 22. Hill CE, MacDougall CR, Riebl SK, Savla J, Hedrick VE, Davy BM. Evaluation of the Relative Validity and Test–Retest Reliability of a 15-Item Beverage Intake Questionnaire in Children and Adolescents. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*. 2017;117(11):1757-1766.e5. doi:10.1016/j.jand.2017.05.011
- 23. Montenegro-Bethancourt G, Johner SA, Remer T. Contribution of fruit and vegetable intake to hydration status in schoolchildren. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2013;98(4):1103-1112. doi:10.3945/AJCN.112.051490
- 24. Thornton SN. Increased Hydration Can Be Associated with Weight Loss. *Frontiers in Nutrition*. 2016;3. doi:10.3389/fnut.2016.00018
- 25. Hales CM, Carroll MD, Fryar CD, Ogden CL. Prevalence of Obesity Among Adults and Youth: United States, 2015-2016 Key Findings Data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey.; 2015. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db288_table.pdf#1.
- 26. Chang T, Ravi N, Plegue MA, Sonneville KR, Davis MM. Inadequate hydration, BMI, and obesity among US adults: NHANES 2009-2012. *Annals of Family Medicine*. 2016;14(4):320-324. doi:10.1370/afm.1951
- Padrão P, Sousa AS, Guerra RS, et al. A cross-sectional study on the association between 24-h urine osmolality and weight status in older adults. *Nutrients*. 2017;9(11). doi:10.3390/nu9111272
- Carretero-Gómez J, Lorido JCA, Huelgas RG, et al. Hydration and obesity among outpatient-based population: H2Ob study. *Journal of Investigative Medicine*. 2018;66(4):780-783. doi:10.1136/jim-2017-000641
- 29. Milla-Tobarra M, García-Hermoso A, Lahoz-García N, et al. The association between water intake, body composition and cardiometabolic factors among

children: the Cuenca study. *Nutrición Hospitalaria*. 2016;33:19-26. doi:10.20960/NH.312

- 30. García AIL, Moráis-Moreno C, Samaniego-Vaesken M de L, Puga AM, Varela-Moreiras G, Partearroyo T. Association between Hydration Status and Body Composition in Healthy Adolescents from Spain. *Nutrients*. 2019;11(11). doi:10.3390/NU11112692
- 31. Raymond CJ, Bosch TA, Dengel DR. Total and Segmental Body Composition Examination in Collegiate Football Players Using Multifrequency BIA and DXA. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 2017;49(5S):255-256. doi:10.1249/01.mss.0000517553.34971.ba
- 32. Enhörning S, Bankir L, Bouby N, et al. Copeptin, a marker of vasopressin, in abdominal obesity, diabetes and microalbuminuria: The prospective Malmö Diet and Cancer Study cardiovascular cohort. *International Journal of Obesity*. 2013;37(4):598-603. doi:10.1038/ijo.2012.88
- Andres-Hernando A, Jensen TJ, Kuwabara M, et al. Vasopressin mediates fructose-induced metabolic syndrome by activating the V1b receptor. *JCI Insight*. 2021;6(1). doi:10.1172/jci.insight.140848
- 34. Keller U, Szinnai G, Bilz S, Berneis K. Effects of changes in hydration on protein, glucose and lipid metabolism in man: Impact on health. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2003;57(SUPPL.2). doi:10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601904
- 35. Song Z, Xiaoli AM, Yang F. Regulation and metabolic significance of De Novo lipogenesis in adipose tissues. *Nutrients*. 2018;10(10). doi:10.3390/nu10101383
- 36. Stookey JD, Brass B, Holliday A, Arieff A. What is the cell hydration status of healthy children in the USA? Preliminary data on urine osmolality and water intake. *Public Health Nutrition*. 2012;15(11):2148-2156. doi:10.1017/S1368980011003648
- 37. Berneis K, Ninnis R, Keller U, Hä ussinger D. *Effects of Hyper- and Hypoosmolality on Whole Body Protein and Glucose Kinetics in Humans.*; 1999.
- 38. Wright NC, Looker AC, Saag KG, et al. The recent prevalence of osteoporosis and low bone mass in the United States based on bone mineral density at the femoral neck or lumbar spine. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*. 2014;29(11):2520-2526. doi:10.1002/jbmr.2269
- 39. Weaver CM, Gordon CM, Janz KF, et al. The National Osteoporosis Foundation's position statement on peak bone mass development and lifestyle factors: a systematic review and implementation recommendations. *Osteoporosis International*. 2016;27(4):1281-1386. doi:10.1007/s00198-015-3440-3

- 40. Da Silva AP, Matos A, Ribeiro R, et al. Sarcopenia and osteoporosis in Portuguese centenarians. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2017;71(1):56-63. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2016.174
- 41. Zorbas OY, Kakuris K, Neofitov N, Afoninos V. Bone histomorphometric values in healthy subjects during hypokinesia with and without fluid and salt supplementation. *Trace Elements and Electrolytes*. 2006;23(2):86-92.
- 42. Gul-E-Noor F, Singh C, Papaioannou A, Sinha N, Boutis GS. The Behavior of Water in Collagen and Hydroxyapatite Sites of Cortical Bone: Fracture, Mechanical Wear, and Load Bearing Studies HHS Public Access. *Journal of Physical Chemistry C: Nanomaterials and Interfaces*. 2015;119(37):21528-21537. doi:10.1021/acs.jpcc
- 43. Nyman JS, Ni Q, Nicolella DP, Wang X. *MEASURMENTS OF MOBILE AND* BOUND WATER BY NUCLEAR MAGNETIC RESONANCE CORRELATE WITH MECHANICAL PROPERTIES OF BONE. Vol 42.; 2008.
- 44. Rai RK, Singh C, Sinha N. Predominant role of water in native collagen assembly inside the bone matrix. *Journal of Physical Chemistry B*. 2015;119(1):201-211. doi:10.1021/jp511288g

CHAPTER II: THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN HYDRATION STATUS AND TOTAL FLUID INTAKE IN HEALTHY CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS.

Introduction

Water is a key component of hydration and plays a variety of important physiological roles in the body as it is essential to cells, tissues, and organs.¹ Hydration is important for overall mental, physical, and emotional health that are associated with inadequate hydration.² Hydration may also have an impact on body composition as studies in children show that BMI was significantly associated with hydration status and that water intake was inversely associated with fat.^{3,4} Yet, evidence from the National Health and Examination Survey (NHANES) shows that children in the US ages 9-13 years have suboptimal hydration status, with an average water intake of 577 mL/d⁵ and those ages 14-18 years met only 866 mL/d and those ages 19-30 years consumed 1,305 mL/d.⁵ This is well below the US Dietary Reference Intakes (DRI) of 2,100 mL/d for girls and 2,400 mL/d for boys ages 9-13 years,^{5,6} of 2,300 mL/d for girls and 3,300 mL/d for boys ages 14-18 years, and of 2,700 mL/d for women and 3,700 mL/d for men ages 19-30 years.⁶ Data from NHANES in children showed that 55% had inadequate hydration, as measured by urine osmolality.⁷

Hydration is usually best assessed using objective markers such as urine osmolality, urine specific gravity (USG), urine color, and free water reserve (FWR).⁸ USG measures the concentration of all chemical particles in the urine and it is considered a non-invasive marker of hydration in children and adolescents, recommended for larger population studies, which has similar specificity (91%) and sensitivity (89%) as urine osmolality.⁸ However, it is not always feasible in epidemiological studies to assess

hydration using these markers. Therefore, questionnaires are often used to estimate hydration status but there are limited studies available that used questionnaires to assess hydration status in children and adolescents against an objective marker. Most studies have explored objective markers in adults. The limited available studies have explored an association between an objective marker of hydration status with an estimation of hydration assessed from food and beverage questionnaires. Though the studies measured with an objective maker from a 24-h urine collection which is more precise, the studies available have been conducted primarily in European populations. Therefore, the present study aimed to evaluate which foods or beverages are significantly associated with an objective marker of hydration (USG) assessed from a 24-h urine collection of US children and adolescents. It is hypothesized that USG will be associated with the intake of certain foods and beverages, which may be different from studies in adults and studies in European children.

Methods Study Design

This was a cross-sectional analysis to evaluate which foods or beverages are significantly associated with an objective marker of hydration status (USG) assessed from a 24-h urine collection and three 24-hour dietary recalls in a sample of children and adolescents.

Study Population

The data for children were used from the baseline visit of the MetA-Bone Trial, a trial to determine the effects of soluble corn fiber (SCF) supplementation for one year on bone metabolism in healthy children.⁹ Inclusion criteria for children of the MetA-Bone

Trial were ages 10-13 years, had low calcium intake (2 or fewer servings of dairy products/day), and had adequate vitamin D levels. Children were excluded if they had chronic illnesses requiring medication use or if using regular calcium (>200 mg/d) or vitamin D supplements (> 400 IU/d). Children were recruited throughout Miami-Dade schools, clinics, after-school programs, emails, online, among other strategies in South Florida. Interested parents completed a short pre-screening questionnaire to verify the eligibility of their child and if eligible, parents were asked to sign the consent form, and children were asked to sign the assent form. The use of the protocols was approved by the Institutional Review Board at Florida International University (IRB-21-0429).

The data for adolescents was collected directly from college students ages 18-20 years at Florida International University. Any adolescents with the presence of chronic illness requiring medication use were excluded. Adolescents were recruited using flyers distributed in classes or by email through faculty and staff. Those interested were explained the study and were asked to answer a brief pre-screening questionnaire with the inclusion criteria. If eligible, participants were asked to sign the consent form. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board at Florida International University (IRB-22-0045).

Measurements

<u>General questionnaire</u>. Participants were administered a questionnaire to determine their age, sex, race, and ethnicity.

<u>Anthropometric measurements</u>. Weight and height were obtained from the participants wearing light clothing, utilizing a standardized scale and a wall-mounted stadiometer. Height was measured with the participant's back and heels touching the vertical board of

the stadiometer. Both weight and height were measured to the nearest 0.1 kg and 0.1 cm, respectively.¹⁰ BMI percentiles for sex and age were calculated using standardized growth charts.¹¹

Physical activity. Participants were asked to complete a short version of the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) to assess physical activity based on the intensity of the activities during the previous seven days (e.g., moderate versus vigorous).¹² 24-h dietary recalls. Participants were asked to complete three 24-hour dietary recalls; the first one was completed in-person, and the two others were completed in the next few days to represent 2 weekdays and 1 weekend day. The participant's food description was reviewed with the participant to ensure completeness and correctness. The 24-hour dietary recalls were analyzed using the dietary computer-based analysis software application 'Nutrition Data System for Research (NDSR)' developed at the University of Minnesota Nutrition Coordinating Center (NCC). The data were analyzed as food group serving count estimates (i.e., servings of dark green vegetables, sugar-sweetened beverages, etc.) derived by the US Dietary Guidelines. The average of the three 24-hour recalls was first calculated and then the following categories were grouped for beverages: water (bottled or tap), fruit juice (citrus juice, fruit juice without citrus, and other juices), milk (unflavored and flavored whole milk, reduced-fat milk, and low-fat milk, and also milk substitutes), sugar-sweetened beverages and soda (regular and diet), tea and coffee (sweetened and unsweetened), and total liquid from all beverages (all of these beverages combined). The following foods were grouped: other dairy products (cheese, yogurt, ice cream, dairy substitutes), fruits, vegetables, grains (flour and dry mixes, bread, tortillas, muffins, crackers, pasta, cereals), protein (chicken, pork, beef, fish, sausage, eggs), oils

and fats, sauces and condiments (salad dressing, barbeque sauce, hollandaise sauce, gravy, syrup and jams), candies and desserts (chocolate, non-chocolate candy, pastries, danish, doughnuts, cakes), nuts and seeds (nut and seed butters included), and salty snacks (bars, chips, popcorn). Finally, NDSR also calculated total water intake from all sources.

Objective marker of hydration status. Participants were asked to collect urine for 24-h to determine hydration status using Urine Specific Gravity (USG). For this, participants were provided with a urine hat to initially collect the urine and then transfer it to sterile urine containers. Participants were instructed to store the urine in the refrigerator throughout their collection until they were brought back to the lab at FIU. For total volume, the urine from the different containers was combined in a volumetric cylinder. From the total volume, a sample of 0.3 ml was transferred into the ATAGO PAL 10S digital pocket refractometer that utilizes a refractive index method to measure USG. The urine sample was placed on the refractometer's prism and analyzed to reveal the measurement value within 3 seconds. Removal of the sample was cleaned using a Kim wipe along with the removal of excess moisture on the prism before the next sample. Zero testing was performed after each participant's testing by placing 3 drops of deionized water with a plastic dropper on the prism service. The refractometer has a urinary USG range of 1.000 to 1.060 with a resolution of 0.001.¹³ USG measures the concentration of all chemical particles in the urine and compares the density of urine to density of water; therefore, the higher the number, the higher the concentration of the urine and the lower the hydration status. Testing was conducted three times for each participant to verify stable USG values and, if results varied, an additional measurement

was made to provide consistent results. The average of the three measurements was calculated. USG values were also categorized as euhydrated (USG < $1.020 \ \mu$ G), dehydrated (USG 1.020-1.030 \ \muG),^{14,15} or severely dehydrated (USG > $1.030 \ \mu$ G).¹⁶

Statistical Analysis

For descriptive statistics, categorical variables were presented as frequencies and percentages, while continuous variables were presented as mean \pm standard deviation. Two-sample t-tests were used to compare mean values between age groups and chi-square and Fisher's exact tests were used to compare differences in proportions between groups. Spearman's rho correlation coefficient tests were conducted to assess correlations between hydration status, type of beverage, and type of food consumed. Mean values of total water intake, other beverages, and foods were used to compare to DRIs for total water intake from all sources by age group and sex. To evaluate which particular food or beverage intake was significantly associated with the objective marker of hydration in the sample, a series of logistic regressions were used, adjusting for age and sex. All analyses were performed using SPSS software version 26.0 and significance was evaluated at an alpha level of 0.05.

Results

A total of 52 participants were included in the overall study consisting of 18 children and 34 adolescents. Table 1 shows the characteristics of these groups; sex distribution was similar between age groups, and most were Hispanic or Latino (73.1%), which was similar between age groups. The overall group was classified as normal weight based on their BMI percentile with no difference by age group. Statistically significant differences were found for age, race, and physical activity.
Variable	Overall (n=52)	10-13 (n=18)	18-20 (n=34)	P-Value
	М	$ean \pm SD \text{ or } N$	(%)	
Age, y	17.0 ± 3.72	12.0 ± 1.37	19.1 ± 0.64	0.000*
Sex				
Female	26 (50.0)	8 (44.4)	18 (52.9)	0.560
Male	26 (50.0)	10 (55.6)	16 (47.1)	
Race				
White	30 (57.7)	2 (11.1)	28 (82.4)	0.000*
African American	4 (7.7)	3 (16.7)	1 (2.9)	
Asian	2 (3.8)		2 (5.9)	
Native Hawaiian or	2 (3.8)		2 (5.9)	
other Pacific				
Islander				
Other	14 (26.9)	13 (72.2)	1 (2.9)	
Hispanic or Latino	38 (73.1)	13 (72.2)	25 (73.5)	0.919
BMI percentile	64.0 ± 24.8	58.0 ± 27.8	67.0 ± 24.7	0.278
IPAQ score (MET)	3639 ± 3714	1729 ± 1328	4540 ± 4194	0.001*

Table 1. Characteristics of study population (N=52)

*Significant difference between age groups at p<0.05 by independent sample t-test or Chi-square. Abbreviations: IPAQ, International Physical Activity Questionnaire.

Intake of foods and beverages in the sample is shown in Table 2. Children had a significantly higher intake of milk and candy and desserts compared to adolescents (p<0.05). However, adolescents had a significantly higher intake of water, tea and coffee, total liquid from beverages, vegetables, and total water intake from all sources (p<0.05). Differences in fluid intake among age groups in relation to BMI was observed (data not shown) and results showed adolescents had a significantly higher intake of water, tea and coffee, and milk (p<0.05).

Food group intoka	Overall (n = 52)	10-13 (n = 18)	18-20 (n = 34)	D Value*
rood group intake		$Mean \pm SD$		- P-value*
Beverages (mL/d)				
Water	924 ± 715	409 ± 409	1197 ± 695	0.000
Fruit juice	55.7 ± 80.6	79.2 ± 98.3	43.3 ± 67.8	0.178
Milk	181 ± 237	325 ± 252	105 ± 192	0.003
Sugar sweetened beverages	57.6 ± 96.8	78.2 ± 123	46.7 ± 79.7	0.269
Tea and coffee	46.7 ± 90.7	5.64 ± 16.5	68.5 ± 106	0.002
Total liquid from beverages	1265 ± 722.9	897 ± 428	1460 ± 774.7	0.001
<i>Foods</i> (servings/d) ¹				
Other dairy products	2.73 ± 2.38	2.99 ± 2.19	2.60 ± 2.50	0.585
Fruit	0.46 ± 0.66	0.67 ± 0.85	0.34 ± 0.51	0.090
Vegetables	2.49 ± 2.09	1.31 ± 0.91	3.11 ± 2.27	0.000
Grains	5.45 ± 2.83	5.98 ± 2.02	5.16 ± 3.17	0.327
Protein	6.74 ± 3.77	5.69 ± 2.84	7.29 ± 4.11	0.146
Oil and fats	2.48 ± 4.34	1.54 ± 1.64	2.97 ± 5.19	0.146
Sauces and condiments	1.63 ± 2.83	0.82 ± 0.99	2.05 ± 3.37	0.139
Candy and dessert	0.63 ± 0.64	1.08 ± 0.72	0.40 ± 0.44	0.001
Nuts and seeds	0.54 ± 1.08	0.31 ± 0.64	0.66 ± 1.24	0.268
Salty snacks	0.46 ± 0.74	0.64 ± 0.94	0.36 ± 0.61	0.261
<i>Total water from all sources (g/d)</i>	1831 ± 841.4	1307 ± 543.8	2109 ± 843.9	0.001

 Table 2. Intake of foods and beverages in children (10-13y) and adolescents (18-20y)

*Difference between age groups was tested by two-sample t-test.

¹A serving of other dairy is 1 cup of yogurt, 1½ ounces of natural cheese, or 2 ounces of processed cheese; a serving of fruits is 1 medium apple, banana, orange, or pear, ½ cup of chopped, cooked, or canned fruit, ¼ cup of dried fruit or ½ cup of fruit juice; a serving of vegetable is 1 cup of raw leafy vegetables, ½ cup of other cooked or raw vegetables, ½ cup of vegetable juice, or 15-30g of pickled foods; a serving of grains is 1 slice of bread, 1 ounce of ready-to-eat cereal, or ½ cup of cooked cereal, rice, or pasta; a serving of protein is one-ounce equivalent; a serving of oils and fats is 1 teaspoon; a serving of sauces and condiments is ¼ cup for toppings, 1 teaspoon for minor condiments, 1 tablespoon for major condiments, and 2 tablespoon for BBQ, hollandaise, or tartar sauce; a serving of nuts and seeds is ½ cup or 1 tablespoon of nuts and seed butters; a serving of candy and dessert is 30 g for cookies, 40 g for chocolate candy and non-chocolate candy, 40 g for brownie, 55-125 g for cake, 55 g for donuts and sweet rolls, or 125 g for pies and pastries; a serving of snacks is 1 ounce.

Hydration status using USG from 24-h urine samples are shown in Table 3. No significant difference between groups was found in USG. When categorized, 51.9% of children and adolescents were euhydrated and 48.1% were dehydrated, with no differences by age group.

Table 3. Hydration status using an objective marker of hydration status (USG) in children (10-13y) and adolescents (18-20y)

Unduction Status	Overall (n = 52)	10-13 (n = 18)	18-20 (n = 34)	– D.Voluo*
		$Mean \pm SD$		r-v alue
USG (μ G) ¹	1.018 ± 0.005	1.020 ± 0.006	1.017 ± 0.005	0.072
Hydration categories				
Euhydrated	27 (51.9)	9 (50.0)	18 (52.9)	0.840
Dehydrated	25 (48.1)	9 (50.0)	16 (47.1)	0.840

*Statistical difference between groups was tested using an independent sample t-test and chisquare

¹A high USG is indicative of lower hydration.

Table 4 displays the total water intake from all sources (all beverages, and moisture in foods) and the comparison with the DRIs. Overall, total water intake from all sources was similar by sex but adolescents (both females and males) ages 18-20 years had a significantly higher intake compared to children ages 10-13 years (p<0.05). When observing among age groups the differences in total water intake from all sources in females and males in relation to BMI (data not shown), no statistically significant difference was observed. Overall, 86.5% failed to meet the recommendations for total fluid intake, with a similar proportion by age and sex.

Huduation Status	Overall $(n = 52)$	10-13y (n = 18)	18-20y (n = 34)	D Value*	
Hydration Status		Mean \pm SD or N (%	<i>(o</i>)	I - v alue	
Total water from all sources	1831 ± 841.4	1307 ± 543.8	2109 ± 843.9	0.001	
Male	2002 ± 980.4	1384 ± 545.1	2388 ± 1005	0.003	
Female	1661 ± 650.1	1210 ± 563.0	1861 ± 594.1	0.018	
P-value (difference					
between sex)	0.146	0.518	0.068		
Met the DRI for total fluid					
intake recommendation	7 (13.5)	2 (11.1)	5 (14.7)	0.539	
Male	3 (11.5)	1 (10.0)	2 (12.5)	0.608	
Female	4 (15.4)	1 (12.5)	3 (16.7)		
Fail to meet the DRI for					
total fluid intake					
recommendation	45 (86.5)	16 (88.9)	29 (85.3)		
Male	23 (88.5)	9 (90.0)	14 (87.5)	1.000	
Female	22 (84.6)	7 (87.5)	15 (83.3)		

Table 4. Total water intake from all sources in children (10-13y) and adolescents (18-20y) by sex and comparison with the dietary reference intakes (DRIs) for total fluid intake

*Statistical difference between groups was tested using an independent sample t-test and chi-square.

Table 5 shows the Spearman's rho correlation results between intake type and hydration status. Overall, there was a significant negative correlation between USG and the intake of fruit juice ($r_s = -0.35$; p<0.05), water ($r_s = -0.34$; p<0.05), total liquid from all beverages ($r_s = -0.32$; p<0.05), vegetables ($r_s = -0.29$; p<0.05), and total water from all sources ($r_s = -0.43$; p<0.05).

Beverage or food intake	Ov	erall	10-13y	(n = 18)	18-20y (n = 34)		
	[s	P value	ŗ,	P value	[s	P value	
Beverages							
Water	-0.34	0.013	0.01	0.984	-0.43	0.012	
Fruit juice	-0.35	0.012	-0.72	0.001	-0.17	0.333	
Milk	0.09	0.538	-0.03	0.900	-0.02	0.910	
Sugar sweetened beverages	0.06	0.659	0.14	0.582	-0.02	0.905	
Tea and coffee	-0.13	0.352	-0.37	0.130	0.06	0.722	
Total liquid from beverages	-0.32	0.021	-0.16	0.523	-0.33	0.057	
Foods							
Other dairy products	-0.05	0.747	0.11	0.660	-0.06	0.759	
Fruit	0.01	0.935	-0.07	0.782	-0.14	0.430	
Vegetables	-0.29	0.036	-0.19	0.455	-0.23	0.199	
Grains	0.03	0.839	-0.16	0.526	0.05	0.776	
Protein	-0.20	0.163	-0.19	0.463	-0.15	0.410	
Oil and fats	-0.21	0.133	-0.12	0.642	-0.24	0.164	
Sauces and condiments	-0.09	0.513	-0.26	0.293	0.11	0.524	
Candy and dessert	0.11	0.452	0.22	0.383	-0.13	0.453	
Nuts and seeds	-0.12	0.384	0.00	0.988	-0.15	0.397	
Salty snacks	-0.10	0.483	-0.29	0.260	-0.06	0.733	
Total water from all sources	-0.41	0.003	-0.08	0.760	-0.43	0.012	

Table 5. Spearman correlations between intake type and hydration status in children (10-13y) and adolescents (18-20y)

Table 6 shows the binary logistic regressions between intake type and hydration status in the sample. Hydration status was categorized as "euhydrated" and "dehydrated," while all beverages and foods remained continuous. Due to the small sample size, all analyses were conducted for the overall sample only. In the unadjusted model, intake of fruit juice was significantly associated with a higher odds of being euhydrated (OR 1.009, 95% CI: 1.001,1002). After adjusting for age and sex, the intake of water (OR 1.001; 95% CI:

1.000, 1.002), fruit juice (1.011, 95% CI: 0.018), all beverages (OR 1.001, 95% CI:

1.000, 1.002), and total water intake from all sources (OR 1.001, 95% CI: 1.000, 1002)

was significantly associated with higher odds of being euhydrated.

Table 6. Binary logistic regression between intake type and hydration status in children (10-13y) and adolescents (18-20y)

		Unadjusted			Adjusted ²	
Food group intake (servings)	OR^1	95% CI	P-value*	OR^1	95% CI	P-value*
Beverages						
Water	1.001	1.000-1.002	0.101	1.001	1.000-1.002	0.047
Fruit juice	1.009	1.001-1.018	0.037	1.011	1.002-1.020	0.018
Milk	0.999	0.997-1.002	0.652	1.001	0.998-1.003	0.729
Sugar sweetened beverages	0.999	0.993-1.005	0.692	1.000	0.994-1.007	0.898
Tea and coffee	1.000	0.994-1.006	0.971	0.999	0.993-1.006	0.801
All beverages	1.001	1.000-1.002	0.099	1.001	1.000-1.002	0.032
Foods						
Other dairy products	1.064	0.841-1.345	0.606	1.066	0.837-1.358	0.603
Fruit	1.095	0.472-2.544	0.832	0.963	0.386-2.402	0.936
Vegetables	1.189	0.891-1.587	0.238	1.190	0.865-1.636	0.286
Grains	1.064	0.871-1.300	0.545	1.139	0.914-1.421	0.247
Protein	1.092	0.934-1.275	0.269	1.124	0.951-1.329	0.172
Oil and fats	1.060	0.915-1.227	0.439	1.067	0.926-1.231	0.370
Sauces and condiments	0.882	0.682-1.140	0.338	0.875	0.686-1.116	0.281
Candy and dessert	1.059	0.445-2.521	0.897	1.278	0.444-3.678	0.650
Nuts and seeds	0.876	0.523-1.468	0.615	0.855	0.494-1.480	0.576
Salty snacks	0.964	0.460-2.020	0.923	1.080	0.500-2.335	0.844
Total water from all sources	1.001	1.000-1.001	0.132	1.001	1.000-1.002	0.049

¹Reference is Euhydrated. ²Adjusted for age and sex*Statistically significant values (p<0.05) are in bold.

Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first study that examined which type of beverages and foods are associated with USG, an objective marker of hydration status, in US children and adolescents. It was found that intake of fruit juice ($r_s = -0.35$; p<0.05), water ($r_s = -0.34$; p<0.05), total liquid from all beverages ($r_s = -0.32$; p<0.05), vegetables ($r_s = -0.29$; p<0.05), and total water from all sources ($r_s = -0.43$; p<0.05) was significantly and inversely correlated with USG scores in the overall sample. The logistic regression showed that intake of water (OR 1.001; 95% CI: 1.000, 1.002), fruit juice (1.011, 95% CI: 1.002, 1.020), all beverages (OR 1.001, 95% CI: 1.000, 1.002), and total water intake from all sources (OR 1.001, 95% CI: 1.000, 1002) was significantly associated with a higher odd of being euhydrated.

There are only a few published studies assessing these associations in children. A study in Portugal with 831 children ages 3-17 years found no significant associations between hydration and intake of foods or beverages, although this study did not measure hydration using USG.¹⁷ Another study using data from NHANES 2009-2012 with 4,134 children and adolescents ages 6-19 years, found a significant association between hydration status and water intake but not with intake of milk, 100% juice, diet beverages, unsweetened tea, or moisture from foods.⁷ However, this study only reported one 24-hour recall prior to the day of urine collection to assess beverage intake, and one urine void was used to assess hydration.⁷ The study failed to collect a 24-hour urine collection to best assess daily hydration. Another study conducted with 548 children ages 9-11 years from Los Angeles and New York City found a significant association between elevated urine osmolality and beverages, except water.¹⁸ This is somewhat similar to our study, although the researchers did not collect a 24-hour urine or use multiple 24-hour dietary recalls.¹⁸ Another study conducted with 210 children ages 8-14 years from Greece observed an inverse association with milk and water intake added together in the model with hydration (p<0.01); this study assessed hydration from 24-hour urine osmolality and

fluid intake from a two-day fluid diary.¹⁶ Also, a study conducted in 1,286 German children ages 4-10 years found that fruits and vegetables (p<0.01) and fruit and vegetable juices were significant predictors of hydration as measured by FWR (p<0.01),¹⁹ which is somewhat similar to the present study, as intake of fruit juice and vegetables were correlated with hydration status in our study. Another study conducted in China with 68 college students ages 18-25 years found a similar association between daily fluid intake (r = -0.56, p<0.05), daily fluid intake from foods (r = -0.47, p<0.05), and daily total drinking fluids (r= -0.54, p<0.05) and USG.²⁰ Therefore, our results are consistent with most of the studies cited in the literature, in which intake of several types of beverages and overall water from all sources, foods and beverages, are associated with hydration status.

In general, we found that 86.5% of the sample were considered dehydrated based on US Dietary Reference Intakes (DRI), although average overall score for USG was 1.018 ± 0.005 uG, which is categorized as euhydrated. These findings are similar to a study conducted with 210 Greek children ages 8-14 years, in which the average USG score was 1.018 ± 0.006 uG.¹⁶ Another study conducted with 29 males and females ages 16-24 years old in the US reported an average overall score of 1.013 ± 0.006 in non-Hispanic white and 1.020 ± 0.007 in non-Hispanic blacks, with 29.7% overall dehydration.²¹ Also, in our sample, 100% were below the DRIs for total water intake from all sources, as those ages 10-14 years had an average consumption of only 897 mL/d and those ages 18-20 years had an average consumption of 1460 mL/d, which is similar to the data from NHANES.⁵ The strength of the present study is the utilization of a 24-hour urine sample to assess hydration and the use of three 24-hour dietary recalls to assess intake of beverages and foods. Among the limitations is the small convenience sample size of children and adolescent from south Florida, which is predominately Hispanic. Data from this study may not be generalizable to others from differing geographical, cultural, racial, and ethnic backgrounds. A larger sample size may have provided further insight to other beverage types and foods that may not have been explored.

In conclusion, our findings showed that the main predictors of hydration were water and fruit juice intake in children and water intake in adolescents. Overall, based on USG, 48.1% of the sample was dehydrated while by total fluid intake, 86.5% of the participants fail to meet the recommended total fluid intake. Future research should explore the differences in dietary patterns in a larger, more generalizable sample and discover other potential predictors that may be associated with hydration status when using USG.

References

- 1. Suh HG, Kavouras SA. Water intake and hydration state in children. *European Journal of Nutrition*. 2019;58(2):475-496. doi:10.1007/s00394-018-1869-9
- Chang T, Ravi N, Plegue MA, Sonneville KR, Davis MM. Inadequate hydration, BMI, and obesity among US adults: NHANES 2009-2012. *Annals of Family Medicine*. 2016;14(4):320-324. doi:10.1370/afm.1951
- Maffeis C, Tommasi M, Tomasselli F, et al. Fluid intake and hydration status in obese vs normal weight children. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2016;70(5):560-565. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2015.170
- 4. García AIL, Moráis-Moreno C, Samaniego-Vaesken M de L, Puga AM, Varela-Moreiras G, Partearroyo T. Association between hydration status and body composition in healthy adolescents from Spain. *Nutrients*. 2019;11(11).

doi:10.3390/nu11112692

- 5. Vieux F, Maillot M, Rehm CD, Barrios P, Drewnowski A. Trends in tap and bottled water consumption among children and adults in the United States: analyses of NHANES 2011–16 data. *Nutrition Journal*. 2020;19(1). doi:10.1186/S12937-020-0523-6
- 6. Institute of Medicine (U.S.). Panel on Dietary Reference Intakes for Electrolytes and Water. *DRI*, *Dietary Reference Intakes for Water*, *Potassium*, *Sodium*, *Chloride*, *and Sulfate*. National Academies Press; 2004.
- Kenney EL, Long MW, Cradock AL, Gortmaker SL. Prevalence of Inadequate Hydration Among US Children and Disparities by Gender and Race/Ethnicity: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2009–2012. *American Journal of Public Health*. 2015;105(8):e113-e118. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2015.302572)
- 8. Baron S, Courbebaisse M, Lepicard EM, Friedlander G. Assessment of hydration status in a large population. *British Journal of Nutrition*. 2015;113(1):147-158. doi:10.1017/S0007114514003213
- 9. Palacios C, Trak-Fellermeier MA, Pérez CM, et al. Effect of Soluble Corn Fiber supplementation for 1 year on bone metabolism in children, the MetA-Bone Trial: Rationale and Design. *Contemporary Clinical Trials*. 2020;95:106061. doi:10.1016/J.CCT.2020.106061
- 10. Center for Health Statistics N. Anthropometry Procedures Manual. Published online 2017.
- 11. Growth Charts Individual Growth Charts. Accessed May 4, 2022. https://www.cdc.gov/growthcharts/charts.htm
- 12. Craig CL, Marshall AL, Sjöström M, et al. International physical activity questionnaire: 12-country reliability and validity. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 2003;35(8):1381-1395. doi:10.1249/01.MSS.0000078924.61453.FB
- Logan-Sprenger HM, Spriet LL. The acute effects of fluid intake on urine specific gravity and fluid retention in a mildly dehydrated state. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*. 2013;27(4):1002-1008. doi:10.1519/JSC.0B013E31826052C7
- 14. Sommerfield LM, McAnulty SR, McBride JM, et al. Validity of Urine Specific Gravity When Compared With Plasma Osmolality as a Measure of Hydration Status in Male and Female NCAA Collegiate Athletes. *Journal of Strength Conditioning Research*. 2016;30(8):2219-2225.

doi:10.1519/JSC.000000000001313

- 15. Dolan MG, MDM, ELE. *Best Practice for Clinical Hydration Measurement.*; 2009.
- 16. Bougatsas D, Arnaoutis G, Panagiotakos DB, et al. Fluid consumption pattern and hydration among 8-14 years-old children. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2018;72(3):420-427. doi:10.1038/s41430-017-0012-y
- 17. Feferbaum R, de Abreu LC, Leone C. Fluid intake patterns: an epidemiological study among children and adolescents in Brazil. *BMC Public Health*. 2012;12(1):1005. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-12-1005/TABLES/4
- Stookey JD, Brass B, Holliday A, Arieff A. What is the cell hydration status of healthy children in the USA? Preliminary data on urine osmolality and water intake. *Public Health Nutrition*. 2012;15(11):2148-2156. doi:10.1017/S1368980011003648
- 19. Montenegro-Bethancourt G, Johner SA, Remer T. Contribution of fruit and vegetable intake to hydration status in schoolchildren. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2013;98(4):1103-1112. doi:10.3945/AJCN.112.051490
- Zhang N, Du S, Tang Z, et al. Hydration, Fluid Intake, and Related Urine Biomarkers among Male College Students in Cangzhou, China: A Cross-Sectional Study-Applications for Assessing Fluid Intake and Adequate Water Intake. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*. 2017;14(5):513. Published 2017 May 11. doi:10.3390/ijerph14050513
- 21. Adams WM, Hevel DJ, Maher JP, McGuirt JT. Racial and Sex Differences in 24 Hour Urinary Hydration Markers among Male and Female Emerging Adults: A Pilot Study. *Nutrients*. 2020;12(4). doi:10.3390/NU12041068

CHAPTER III: THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN HYDRATION STATUS AND BODY COMPOSITION IN HEALTHY CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS.

Introduction

Childhood obesity continues to be a major public health concern in the US, with 19.1% of boys and 17.8% of girls ages 2-19 years in the US being obese.^{1–3} As rates increase, children are more susceptible to conditions, such as diabetes mellitus, hypertension, coronary artery disease, cancer, and sleep apnea.^{1,2} Emerging evidence also shows an increased prevalence of children and adolescents with suboptimal hydration across the globe.⁴ Evidence from the National Health and Examination Survey (NHANES) of 7,453 children ages 4-18 years and 3,248 adolescents ages 19-30 years in the US was examined. Average water intake was 577 mL/d in those ages 9-13 years, 866 mL/d in those ages 14-18 years, and 1,305 mL/d in those ages 19-30 years.⁵ These levels are below the US Dietary Reference Intakes (DRI) of 2,100 mL/d for girls and 2,400 mL/d for boys ages 9-13⁶ years, 2,300 mL/d for girls and 3,300 mL/d for boys ages 14-18 years, and 2,700 mL/d for women and 3,700 mL/d for men ages 19-30 years.^{5,6} Furthermore, the study using data from NHANES showed that 60% did not meet DRIs for total water intake.⁵

Studies have shown an association between hydration and weight status,^{7–12} mainly in adults using various markers to assess hydration status, such as urine osmolality, urine specific gravity, total body water (TBW), free water reserve (FWR), urine color, and thirst perception. A study using data from NHANES 2009-2012 of adults showed that those inadequately hydrated, which was measured by urine osmolality, had significantly higher BMI (P<0.001) and had higher odds of being obese (OR=1.59; 95%)

CI. 1.35-1.88, P<0.001) compared to those adequately hydrated.¹³ Similar results were found in 1,500 Portuguese adults, with the greatest odds of obesity (OR = 1.97, 95% CI, 1.06-3.66) in men in the highest osmolality tertile (≥ 602.1 mOsm/kg) compared to the lowest tertile.¹⁴ For children and adolescents, less evidence is available associating an objective marker of hydration with weight or obesity. A study among 86 obese and 89 normal weight Italian children ages 7-11 years found that hypohydration, assessed using free water reserve (FWR), was significantly higher in obese children (34%) compared to children with healthy weights (20%).¹⁵ Another study of 371 Belgian children ages 7-13 years reported that BMI was a significant predictor of total fluid intake, assessed using urine osmolality, ($\beta = 0.110$, p = 0.038), although no significant association was found between fluid intake and hydration status measured using urine osmolality.^{16,17} Another study among 358 Spanish adolescents ages 18-39 years found an inverse association between water intake, assessed from questionnaires, and BMI (r = -0.18, p<0.01) and body fat percentage (%) (r = -0.14, p< 0.05).¹⁷ Although some studies associated hydration status assessed from questionnaires with weight status, to our knowledge, only two studies assessed hydration using an objective marker.^{17–19} In addition, the studies did not evaluate body mass using Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA) which is considered the gold standard for measuring body composition.²⁰ Most of the studies evaluating the association between hydration and body composition were done primarily in European children and adolescents.

To date, there are no studies that have explored the relationship between hydration status via an objective marker and body composition using DEXA scan in children and adolescents in the US. Therefore, this study aimed to examine the

association between hydration status (measured from USG in a 24-h urine sample and assessed from three 24-h dietary recalls) and body fat % and fat-free mass (FFM) (assessed from a DEXA scan) in children and adolescents.

Methods

Study Design

This was a cross-sectional analysis to evaluate the association between hydration status (measured from USG in a 24-h urine sample and assessed from three 24-h dietary recalls) and body-fat % and FFM using DEXA in a sample of children (ages 10-13 years) and adolescents (ages 18-20 years).

Study Population

The data for children (ages 10-13 years) were taken from the baseline visit of the MetA-Bone Trial, a trial to determine the effects of soluble corn fiber (SCF) supplementation for one year on bone metabolism in healthy children.²¹ Inclusion criteria for children of the MetA-Bone Trial were age 10-13 years, had low calcium intake (2 or fewer servings of dairy products/day), and had adequate vitamin D levels. Children were excluded if they had chronic illnesses requiring medication use or if using regular calcium (>200 mg/d) or vitamin D supplements (> 400 IU/d). Children were recruited throughout Miami-Dade schools, clinics, after-school programs, emails, online, among other strategies in South Florida. Parents interested completed a short pre-screening questionnaire to verify the eligibility of their child and if eligible, parents were asked to sign the consent form, and children were asked to sign the assent form. The use of this data was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Florida International University (IRB-21-0429).

The data for adolescents (ages 18-20 years) was collected directly from college students at Florida International University. Any adolescents with the presence of chronic illness requiring medication use were excluded. Adolescents were recruited using flyers distributed in classes or by email through faculty and staff. Those interested were explained the study and were asked a brief pre-screening questionnaire with the inclusion criteria. If eligible, participants were asked to sign the consent form. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Florida International University (IRB-22-0045).

Measurements

<u>General questionnaire</u>. Participants were administered a questionnaire to determine their age, sex, race, and ethnicity.

<u>Anthropometric measurements</u>. Weight and height were obtained by the participant wearing light clothing, utilizing a standardized scale and a wall-mounted stadiometer. Both weight and height were measured to the nearest 0.1 kg and 0.1 cm, respectively.²² Height was measured with the participant's back and heels touching the vertical board of the stadiometer. The moveable headboard was adjusted based on the participant's height and brought to the most superior point with sufficient pressure to compress the hair.²² BMI percentiles for sex and age were calculated using the CDC standardized growth charts.²³

<u>Physical activity.</u> Participants were asked to complete a short version of the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) to assess physical activity based on the intensity of the activities during the last seven days (e.g., moderate versus vigorous).²⁴

<u>24-h dietary recalls.</u> Participants were asked to complete three 24-hour dietary recalls; the first one was completed in-person, and the two others were completed in the next few days to represent 2 weekdays and 1 weekend day. The participant's food description was reviewed with the participant to ensure completeness and correctness. The 24-hour dietary recalls were analyzed using the dietary computer-based analysis software application 'Nutrition Data System for Research (NDSR)' developed at the University of Minnesota Nutrition Coordinating Center (NCC). Data for total water intake from all sources (all beverages and foods) was used in the analyses.

<u>Body fat % and FFM.</u> This was measured through a whole-body scan using the Hologic-Dual-Energy-X-Ray Absorptiometry (DEXA). Participants were asked to lie down for 10 minutes in the DEXA scan bed while wearing no shoes and light clothing. This was conducted by a trained and certified personnel. The analysis provided data for total fat mass in grams, %, and fat mass index (fat mass/height²), and lean mass in grams.²⁵ Body fat % was used to calculate fat-free mass (FFM) with the following equation: FFM = weight [kg] * (1 - (body fat %/ 100)).²⁶ Binary variables were created for these measures and was coded 0 as "below the median" and 1 as "above the median."

<u>Objective marker of hydration status</u>. Participants were asked to collect urine for 24-h to assess hydration status using Urine Specific Gravity (USG). For this, participants were provided with a urine hat to initially collect the urine and then transfer it to sterile urine containers. Participants were instructed to store the urine in the refrigerator throughout their collection until they were brought back to the lab. The first sample was collected at the study visit and the rest after the study visit. The total volume and USG were measured in the laboratory at FIU. For total volume, the urine from the different containers was

combined in a volumetric cylinder. The sample of 0.3 ml was transferred into the ATAGO PAL 10S digital pocket refractometer that utilizes a refractive index method to measure USG. The urine sample was placed on the refractometer's prism and analyzed to reveal the measurement value within 3 seconds. Removal of the sample was cleaned using a Kim wipe along with the removal of excess moisture on the prism before the next sample. Zero testing was performed after each participant's testing by placing three drops of deionized water with a plastic dropper on the prism service. The refractometer has a urinary USG range of 1.000 to 1.060 with a resolution of 0.001.²⁷ USG refractometry score results are based on the number, mass, and chemical structure of the dissolved particles in the urine, so the higher the number, the higher the concentration. Testing was conducted three times for each participant to verify stable USG values. If results varied, an additional measurement was made to provide consistent results. The average of the three measurements was used as the final level. Participants with USG values < 1.020 µG were considered euhydrated, and those with USG values > 1.020 μ G were dehydrated.^{28–} ³⁰ USG values above > 1.030 μ G indicated participants were severely dehydrated.³⁰

Statistical Analysis

For descriptive statistics, categorical variables were presented as frequencies and percentages, while continuous variables were presented as mean ± standard deviation. Two-sample t-tests were used to compare mean values between age groups and chi-square and Fisher's exact tests were used to compare differences in proportions between groups. To examine the association between hydration status (assessed from USG in a 24-h urine sample) and body fat %, FFM, and lean mass in the sample (assessed from DEXA), a series of linear and logistic regressions were used, adjusting for age, sex, and

physical activity. To assess the overall fit of the regression equation and/or model to the observed data, fit indices (e.g. R²) were examined. Normality was tested using the Shapiro-Wilk test. For non-normally distributed variables, log-transformations were used to test linear association. Regression coefficients were evaluated to further examine the individual contribution of each predictor variable to the equation and/or model. Medians or respective distributions were used for logistic regression to categorize body fat%, fat-free mass outcome measures as below or above the median. Linear regression was also used to explore the association between total water intake from all sources assessed from 24-h food recalls and body fat%, FFM, and lean mass (assessed from DEXA). All analyses were performed using SPSS software Version 26.0 and significance was evaluated at an alpha level of 0.05.

Results

A total of 52 participants were included in the study consisting of 18 children and 34 adolescents. Table 1 shows the characteristics of these groups; sex distribution was similar between age groups, and most were Hispanic or Latino (73.1%), which was similar between age groups. There was a significant difference in the race distribution by age group. The overall group was classified as normal weight based on their BMI percentile with no difference by age group. Total water intake from all sources, physical activity, lean mass, and fat-free mass were significantly higher in adolescents (18-20 years) compared to children (10-13 years; p<0.05).

Variable	Overall (n=52)	10-13 (n=18)	18-20 (n=34)	P-Value
	Мес	$an \pm SD \text{ or } N(\%)$		
Age, y	17.0 ± 3.72	12.0 ± 1.37	19.1 ± 0.64	0.000*

 Table 1. Characteristics of the study population (N=52)

Sex				
Female	26 (50.0)	8 (44.4)	18 (52.9)	0.560
Male	26 (50.0)	10 (55.6)	16 (47.1)	
Race				
White	30 (57.7)	2 (11.1)	28 (82.4)	0.000*
African American	4 (7.7)	3 (16.7)	1 (2.9)	
Asian	2 (3.8)		2 (5.9)	
Native Hawaiian				
or other Pacific	2 (3.8)		2 (5.9)	
Islander				
Other	14 (26.9)	13 (72.2)	1 (2.9)	
Hispanic or Latino	38 (73.1)	13 (72.2)	25 (73.5)	0.919
IPAQ score (MET)	3639 ± 3714	1729 ± 1328	4540 ± 4194	0.001*
BMI percentile	64.0 ± 24.8	58.0 ± 27.8	67.0 ± 24.7	0.278
Body fat %	32.2 ± 7.31	30.1 ± 7.91	31.8 ± 7.02	0.423
Lean mass, kg	38.7 ± 10.8	29.1 ± 9.28	43.8 ± 7.68	0.000*
FFM, kg	41.7 ± 11.10	30.9 ± 6.92	47.5 ± 8.16	0.000*
Total water intake	$1831{\pm}841.4$	1307 ± 543.8	2109 ± 843.9	0.001
USG (µG)	1.018 ± 0.005	1.020 ± 0.006	1.017 ± 0.005	0.072

*Significant difference between age groups at p<0.05 by independent sample t-test or Chisquare. Abbreviations: IPAQ, International Physical Activity Questionnaire, USG, urine specific gravity, FFM, fat-free mass.

Table 2 shows the linear regression between body composition with total water intake from all sources (assessed from 24-h food recalls). After adjusting for age, sex, and physical activity, there was a significant negative association between total water intake from all sources and body fat % for the overall group (B = -12.0, p<0.05). However, for FFM, there was a significant positive association with total water intake from all sources for the overall group after adjusting for age, sex, and physical activity (B = 18.2, p<0.05) and in children (B = 21.5, p<0.05) after adjusting for sex and physical activity. For lean mass, a similar result was found, whereas a significant positive association was found with total water intake from all sources in children (B = 28.0, p<0.05) after adjusting for covariates.

Table 3 displays the linear regressions between body composition with hydration status (assessed from USG in 24-h urine samples). After adjusting age, sex, and physical activity, no significant association was found between body fat %, FFM, or lean mass and hydration status, overall or by age groups.

Table 4 displays the logistic regression between hydration status or total water intake from all sources with body composition. Hydration status was categorized as "euhydrated" and "dehydrated", while total water intake from all sources, body fat %, FFM, and lean mass were categorized as "below the median" or "above the median." The analyses were done only for the overall sample, due to the small sample size. After adjusting for age, sex, and physical activity, no significant association was found between body fat % and hydration status or total water intake from all sources. Those with lower total water intake from all sources had 3.57 times higher odds of being below the median for FFM and lean mass than those with higher total water intake from all sources (OR 3.57, 95% CI: 1.14, 11.9). After adjusting for age, sex, and physical activity, lower total water intake from all sources was 4.40 times higher odds of being below the median for FFM and lean mass (OR 4.40, 95% CI: 1.05, 18.5).

Table 2. Linear regression between total water intake (assessed from 24-h food recalls) and body composition (assessed from DEXA scan) in children (10-13y) and adolescents (18-20y).

		Simple linear regression									Adjusted linear regression ¹								
		Overa	all	Child	Children (10-13 years) Adolescents (18-20						Overall			Children (10-13 years)			Adolescents (18-20 years)		
				(n = 18)			(n = 34)							(n = 18)		(n = 34)		4)	
	В	SE	P-value	В	SE	P-value	В	SE	P-value	В	SE	P-value	В	SE	P-value	В	SE	P-value	
Body fat %	-10.2	5.22	0.057	-20.0	10.3	0.072	-16.0	7.33	0.037	-12.0	5.40	0.035	-13.4	9.09	0.161	-10.1	6.76	0.144	
FFM	36.5	6.39	0.000	18.2	8.53	0.041	23.0	8.26	0.015	18.2	8.55	0.041	21.5	8.98	0.031	6.00	5.87	0.348	
Lean mass	40.0	6.28	0.000	28.4	11.4	0.024	17.1	8.03	0.042	11.4	5.81	0.056	28.0	12.4	0.042	5.24	5.47	0.346	

¹Adjusted for age, sex, and physical activity overall and sex and physical activity among age groups;*Statistically significant values (p<0.05) are bold. **Table 3. Linear regression between hydration status (assessed from USG in 24-h urine samples) and body composition** (assessed from DEXA scan) in children (10-13y) and adolescents (18-20y).

		Simple linear regression									Adjusted linear regression ¹							
	Overall		11	Children (10-13 years)		Ado	Adolescents (18-20 years)			Overall		Children (10-13 years)			Adolescents (18-20 years)			
				(n = 18)			(n = 34)					(n = 18)		(n = 34)		34)		
	В	SE	P-value	В	SE	P-value	В	SE	P-value	В	SE	P-value	В	SE	P-value	В	SE	P-value
Body fat %	-1.56	1.80	0.390	-1.67	3.06	0.593	-0.95	2.43	0.698	0.54	1.61	0.738	0.50	2.64	0.853	0.63	2.08	0.763
FFM	-4.38	2.68	0.109	-2.96	2.60	0.272	0.78	2.83	0.784	-1.78	1.63	0.280	-3.76	2.70	0.185	-1.57	1.75	0.378
Lean mass	-4.20	2.61	0.114	-4.61	2.52	0.346	-1.57	2.66	0.801	-2.06	1.70	0.230	-2.06	3.72	0.236	-1.57	1.63	0.343

¹Adjusted for age, sex, and physical activity overall and sex and physical activity among age groups. ²Variable was rescaled by dividing by 100. *Statistically significant values (p<0.05) are bold.

Table 4. Logistic regression between hydration categories and total water intake categories and body composition categories in the sample

	Overall									
Body composition ²	OR (95% CI)	p-value	Adjusted OR ¹ (95% CI)	p-value						
Body fat % and hydration status										
<i>Euhydrated</i> (USG < 1.020μ G)	1		1							
Dehydrated (USG $\geq 1.020 \ \mu$ G)	1.59 (0.53, 4.76)	0.406	1.08 (0.28, 4.12)	0.912						
FFM and hydration status										
<i>Euhydrated</i> (USG < 1.020μ G)	1		1							
Dehydrated (USG $\geq 1.020 \ \mu$ G)	1.17 (0.39, 3.47)	0.781	5.68 (0.97, 33.3)	0.055						
Lean mass and hydration status										
Euhydrated (USG < 1.020μ G)	1		1							
Dehydrated (USG $\geq 1.020 \ \mu$ G)	1.17 (0.39, 3.47)	0.781	5.68 (0.97, 33.3)	0.055						
Body fat % and total water intake										
Above the median	1	0.099	1	0.230						
Below the median	0.39 (0.13, 1.19)		0.46 (0.13, 1.64)							
FFM and total water intake										
Above the median	1	0.029	1	0.043						
Below the median	3.57 (1.14, 11.2)		4.40 (1.05, 18.5)							
Lean mass and total water intake										
Above the median	1		1							
Below the median	3.57 (1.14, 11.9)	0.029	4.40 (1.05, 18.5)	0.043						

¹Logistic regressions were adjusted for age, sex, and physical activity. ²Reference category is above the median.

*Statistically significant values (p<0.05) are in bold.

Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first study to examine the association between hydration status (measured from USG in a 24-h urine sample and assessed from three 24-h dietary recalls) and body composition in a sample of children and adolescents in south Florida. Total water intake from all sources was negatively associated with body fat % (B = -12.0, p<0.05) while it was positively associated with FFM (B = 18.2, p<0.05) overall, after adjusting for sex and physical activity. In children, total water intake from all sources was positively associated with both FFM (B = 21.5, p<0.05) and lean mass (B = 28.0, p<0.05) after adjusting for covariates. In addition, those with a lower total water intake from all sources had 4.40 times higher odds of lower FFM and lean mass than those with higher

total water intake from all sources (OR 4.40, 95% CI: 1.05, 18.5) in the overall group. However, USG or hydration status was not associated with body fat %, FFM, or lean mass in the linear or in the logistic regression models.

There are only a few studies that have found an association between body composition and an objective marker of hydration status in children and adolescents. A study in Poland with 264 children ages 7-15 years showed an increase in the odds of dehydration due to excess body fat % measured by urine osmolality (OR 2.39, 95% CI 1.15, 4.94), although this study used a Tanita analyzer to assess body composition and a 24-hour urine collection was not used.³¹ Another study conducted in the United Kingdom with 936 children and adolescents ages 4-22 years showed a significant association between hydration (measured by total body water; TBW) and FFM ($\beta = 0.59$, p<0.01).³² The study in Italy with 175 children ages 7-11 years found similar results with BMI and hydration status using the free water reserve (FWR) equation and two 24-hour urine collections (p<0.05), although did not use DEXA for analysis of body composition.¹⁵

Similar to the present study, other studies have found significant associations between total water intake from all sources assessed from questionnaires with body composition. For example, a study in Spain with 372 children and adolescents ages 12-18 years found a significant inverse association between water intake assessed from the hydration status questionnaire (HSQ) and body fat % ($\beta = -0.284$, p<0.01).^{18,33} Another study conducted in Spain with 366 children ages 9-11 years found a positive association between water intake assessed from 24-h dietary recalls with BMI (p<0.001), body fat (p<0.01), and fat-free mass (p<0.01), assessed via bioimpedance analysis.¹⁹ However,

neither study assessed body composition using DEXA and they were conducted primarily in European children and adolescents.

There are several mechanisms that may explain how hydration status is associated with weight or obesity. One mechanism is in relation to the anti-diuretic hormone (ADH) that is released as a result to an increase of plasma osmolality during dehydration, in which ADH is responsible for stimulating thirst to help regulate body fluid. During increased plasma osmolality (insufficient water intake), the precursor of ADH, known as serum copeptin, is elevated and results in an increase in fat accumulation. Another mechanism is the process of lipolysis that occurs in all triglyceride storing tissues, although adipose tissue is known to reflect a majority of lipolytic activity. During hyperosmolality (insufficient water intake), adipocytes become dehydrated, resulting in excess triglycerides due to an inability to metabolize free fatty acids in the mitochondria. Therefore, a relationship between hydration and weight status may be evident.

The strength of the present study is the utilization of a DEXA scan to analyze body composition, the use of an objective marker of hydration, and three 24-hour dietary recalls to assess total water intake from all sources. Furthermore, the use of accurate measures such as FFM provides a more detailed indicator of obesity in children.²⁶ Body fat % has been commonly used in practice, however, cannot be evaluated independently from FFM due to its dependence on height.³⁴ Body fat indices such as FFMI and FMI have been used to evaluate changes in body composition in FFM in recent studies, although no significant association or trend was shown in the present study between FMI and FFMI and hydration status (not shown) when tested.³⁴Among the limitations is the small convenience sample size of children and adolescents from south Florida. A larger

sample may be needed to find significant associations between body fat % or FFM and hydration status with USG. USG was chosen as the objective marker for the present study instead of urine osmolality, urine color, FWR, and TBW due to its ability to adapt to pediatric populations and use without technical expertise, suitable to studies with a larger sample size and limited resources.² However, other measures may impact the association with USG as protein, glucose, ketones, bilirubin, and urobilinogen may alter the results if present in the urine. ³⁹ During proteinuria, each 10g/1 protein may increase USG by 0.003 when measured by refractometry. Similar is shown for every 10 g/1 of glucose may increase USG by approximately 0.002. ³⁹ Several markers should be used together to explore these associations in this population to account for limitations in objective measures.

In conclusion, our findings showed that total water intake from all sources was significantly associated with FFM and lean mass in both the linear and logistic regression models, in which may provide insight to the importance of children and adolescent's water intake to have a greater FFM and lean mass. Future research should be conducted to explore other objective markers of hydration that may serve as a better predictor to body fat % along with a larger sample to explore the associations between hydration and body composition in this population

References

1. Thornton SN. Increased Hydration Can Be Associated with Weight Loss. *Frontiers in Nutrition*. 2016;3. doi:10.3389/fnut.2016.00018

2. Baron S, Courbebaisse M, Lepicard EM, Friedlander G. Assessment of hydration status in a large population. *British Journal of Nutrition*. 2015;113(1):147-158. doi:10.1017/S0007114514003213

- Hales CM, Carroll MD, Fryar CD, Ogden CL. Prevalence of Obesity Among Adults and Youth: United States, 2015-2016 Key Findings Data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey.; 2015. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db288_table.pdf#1.
- 4. Hasnain SR, Singer MR, Bradlee ML, Moore LL. Beverage intake in early childhood and change in body fat from preschool to adolescence. *Childhood Obesity*. 2014;10(1):42-49. doi:10.1089/chi.2013.0004
- 5. Vieux F, Maillot M, Rehm CD, Barrios P, Drewnowski A. Trends in tap and bottled water consumption among children and adults in the United States: analyses of NHANES 2011–16 data. *Nutrition Journal*. 2020;19(1). doi:10.1186/S12937-020-0523-6
- 6. Institute of Medicine (U.S.). Panel on Dietary Reference Intakes for Electrolytes and Water. *DRI, Dietary Reference Intakes for Water, Potassium, Sodium, Chloride, and Sulfate*. National Academies Press; 2004.
- Carretero-Krug A, Úbeda N, Velasco C, et al. Hydration status, body composition, and anxiety status in aeronautical military personnel from Spain: a cross-sectional study. *Military Medical Research*. 2021;8(1). doi:10.1186/S40779-021-00327-2
- 8. Armstrong LE, Johnson EC, Munoz CX, et al. Hydration biomarkers and dietary fluid consumption of women. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*. 2012;112(7):1056-1061. doi:10.1016/J.JAND.2012.03.036
- 9. González-Arellanes R, Urquidez-Romero R, Rodríguez-Tadeo A, et al. High Hydration Factor in Older Hispanic-American Adults: Possible Implications for Accurate Body Composition Estimates. *Nutrients*. 2019;11(12). doi:10.3390/NU11122897
- 10. Sekiguchi Y, Benjamin CL, Butler CR, et al. Relationships Between WUT (Body Weight, Urine Color, and Thirst Level) Criteria and Urine Indices of Hydration Status. *Sports Health.* Published online 2021. doi:10.1177/19417381211038494
- 11. Sekiguchi Y, Benjamin CL, Butler CR, et al. The Relationship between %BML, Urine Color, Thirst Level and Urine Indices of Hydration Status. *Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism.* 2020;76 Suppl 1:65-66. doi:10.1159/000515217
- Gonçalves A, Silva J, Carvalho J, Moreira P, Padrão P. Urinary hydration biomarkers and water sources in free-living elderly. *Nutricion hospitalaria*. 2016;33(Suppl 3):13-18. doi:10.20960/NH.311

- 13. Chang T, Ravi N, Plegue MA, Sonneville KR, Davis MM. Inadequate hydration, BMI, and obesity among US adults: NHANES 2009-2012. *Annals of Family Medicine*. 2016;14(4):320-324. doi:10.1370/afm.1951
- Padrão P, Sousa AS, Guerra RS, et al. A cross-sectional study on the association between 24-h urine osmolality and weight status in older adults. *Nutrients*. 2017;9(11). doi:10.3390/nu9111272
- Maffeis C, Tommasi M, Tomasselli F, et al. Fluid intake and hydration status in obese vs normal weight children. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2016;70(5):560-565. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2015.170
- Michels N, van den Bussche K, vande Walle J, de Henauw S. Belgian primary school children's hydration status at school and its personal determinants. *European Journal of Nutrition*. 2017;56(2):793-805. doi:10.1007/s00394-015-1126-4
- García AIL, Moráis-Moreno C, Samaniego-Vaesken M de L, Puga AM, Partearroyo T, Varela-Moreiras G. Influence of Water Intake and Balance on Body Composition in Healthy Young Adults from Spain. *Nutrients*. 2019;11(8). doi:10.3390/NU11081923
- García AIL, Moráis-Moreno C, Samaniego-Vaesken M de L, Puga AM, Varela-Moreiras G, Partearroyo T. Association between Hydration Status and Body Composition in Healthy Adolescents from Spain. *Nutrients*. 2019;11(11). doi:10.3390/NU11112692
- 19. Milla-Tobarra M, García-Hermoso A, Lahoz-García N, et al. The association between water intake, body composition and cardiometabolic factors among children: the Cuenca study. *Nutrición Hospitalaria*. 2016;33:19-26. doi:10.20960/NH.312
- 20. Raymond CJ, Bosch TA, Dengel DR. Total and Segmental Body Composition Examination in Collegiate Football Players Using Multifrequency BIA and DXA. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 2017;49(5S):255-256. doi:10.1249/01.mss.0000517553.34971.ba
- Palacios C, Trak-Fellermeier MA, Pérez CM, et al. Effect of Soluble Corn Fiber supplementation for 1 year on bone metabolism in children, the MetA-Bone Trial: Rationale and Design. *Contemporary Clinical Trials*. 2020;95:106061. doi:10.1016/J.CCT.2020.106061
- 22. Center for Health Statistics N. Anthropometry Procedures Manual. Published online 2017.

- 23. Growth Charts Individual Growth Charts. Accessed May 4, 2022. https://www.cdc.gov/growthcharts/charts.htm
- 24. Craig CL, Marshall AL, Sjöström M, et al. International physical activity questionnaire: 12-country reliability and validity. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 2003;35(8):1381-1395. doi:10.1249/01.MSS.0000078924.61453.FB
- 25. Barreira T v., Tseh W. The effects of acute water ingestion on body composition analyses via Dual-Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry. *Clinical Nutrition*. Published online 2020. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2020.03.037
- 26. Shypailo RJ, Wong WW. Fat and fat-free mass index references in children and young adults: assessments along racial and ethnic lines. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2020;112(3):566-575. doi:10.1093/AJCN/NQAA128
- 27. Wang B, Tang C, Wang H, et al. Influence of body mass index status on urinary creatinine and specific gravity for epidemiological study of children. *European Journal of Pediatrics*. 2015;174(11):1481-1489. doi:10.1007/s00431-015-2558-9
- 28. Logan-Sprenger HM, Spriet LL. The acute effects of fluid intake on urine specific gravity and fluid retention in a mildly dehydrated state. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*. 2013;27(4):1002-1008. doi:10.1519/JSC.0B013E31826052C7
- 29. Sommerfield LM, McAnulty SR, McBride JM, et al. Validity of Urine Specific Gravity When Compared With Plasma Osmolality as a Measure of Hydration Status in Male and Female NCAA Collegiate Athletes. *Journal of Strength Conditioning Research*. 2016;30(8):2219-2225. doi:10.1519/JSC.000000000001313
- 30. Dolan MG, MDM, ELE. *Best Practice for Clinical Hydration Measurement.*; 2009.
- 31. Kozioł-Kozakowska A, Piórecka B, Suder A, Jagielski P. Body Composition and a School Day Hydration State among Polish Children-A Cross-Sectional Study. *Int J Environmental Research and Public Health*. 2020;17(19):1-12. doi:10.3390/IJERPH17197181
- 32. Gutiérrez-Marín D, Luque V, Ferré N, Fewtrell MS, Williams JE, Wells JCK. ARTICLE Body composition, energy expenditure and physical activity Associations of age and body mass index with hydration and density of fat-free mass from 4 to 22 years. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2019;73:1422-1430. doi:10.1038/s41430-019-0447-4
- 33. García AIL, Samaniego-Vaesken MDL, Partearroyo T, Varela-Moreiras G. Adaptation and validation of the hydration status questionnaire in a spanish

adolescent-young population: A cross sectional study. *Nutrients*. 2019;11(3). doi:10.3390/nu11030565

- 34. Cuzzo B, Padala SA LS. *Vasopressin (Antidiuretic Hormone, ADH)*. StatPearls; 2020. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK526069/
- 35. Bouby N, Fernandes S. Mild dehydration, vasopressin and the kidney: Animal and human studies. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2003;57(SUPPL.2). doi:10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601900
- 36. Keller U, Szinnai G, Bilz S, Berneis K. Effects of changes in hydration on protein, glucose and lipid metabolism in man: Impact on health. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2003;57(SUPPL.2). doi:10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601904
- 37. Song Z, Xiaoli AM, Yang F. Regulation and metabolic significance of De Novo lipogenesis in adipose tissues. *Nutrients*. 2018;10(10). doi:10.3390/nu10101383
- 38. Liu P, Ma F, Lou H, Liu Y. The utility of fat mass index vs. body mass index and percentage of body fat in the screening of metabolic syndrome. *BMC Public Health*. 2013;13(1). doi:10.1186/1471-2458-13-629
- Imran S, Eva G, Christopher S, Flynn E, Henner D. Is specific gravity a good estimate of urine osmolality? *Journal of Clinical Laboratory Analysis*. 2010;24(6):426. doi:10.1002/JCLA.20424

CHAPTER IV: EXPLORING THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN HYDRATION STATUS AND BONE MASS IN HEALTHY CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS.

Introduction

Low bone mass is highly prevalent in the US with about 32-46% of adults having low bone mass.¹ Low bone mass in children and adolescents has attracted much attention in recent years as low bone mass in older adults starts at puberty, considering the large proportion of bone mass is acquired during this stage². The peak of bone mineral accretion is at approximately ages 12.5 ± 0.90 years in girls and 14.1 ± 0.95 years in boys and spans for 3- to 4-years and during this period, 40% of the total lifetime bone mass is achieved.² Peak bone mineral accretion is determined by several factors, including diet along with other lifestyle behaviors, in childhood and adolescence.² Therefore, dietary patterns in this period will impact the prevalence of low bone mass in adulthood.

Several studies have determined the impact of diet on bone. It is known that consumption of fruits and vegetables, fish, dietary fiber, and dairy products leads to a higher bone mass while the intake of processed, refined, or high energy dense foods results in low bone mass.^{3–8} However, there is little evidence exploring fluid intake and hydration status on bone. This could impact bone mass as water contributes to approximately 20% of the bone's wet weight being the third major component of bone.⁹ Recent literature has shown when water is mechanically removed from bone, it significantly affects the strength, toughness, and stiffness of bone, although there are no *in vivo* studies providing physiological evidence on whether hydration directly affects bone mass in children or adults.^{10,11} In humans, there are two studies within the literature that have explored the associations between hydration status and bone mass in adults. The

first study was conducted in older adults and showed that those that were adequately hydrated, which was measured by total body water (TBW), had a lower risk of osteoporosis (OR = 0.76, 95% CI, 0.66-0.88, P < 0.0001).¹² The second study tested the effects of fluid and salt supplementation during hypokinesia in 30 healthy male students.¹³ This study found that a higher bone mineralization when supplemented with fluids and salt than without the supplementation. They also found a significant correlation between bone electrolyte density and bone mineral density (measured by dual-energy Xray absorptiometry (DEXA) scan) (r = 0.93, p < 0.05). To our knowledge, there are no reported studies that have evaluated total fluid intake via questionnaires and bone mass in children and adolescents.

Therefore, the present study aimed to explore the potential association between hydration status, assessed using an objective marker of hydration (urine specific gravity, USG) from a 24-hour urine collection) and from total water intake from all sources from 3 24-h dietary recalls, and bone mass, measured using a DEXA scan, in a sample of children and adolescents.

Methods

Study Design

This was a cross-sectional analysis to evaluate the association between hydration status assessed from 24-hour urine collection using USG and bone mineral density and bone mineral content measured from a DEXA scan in a sample of children (ages 10-13 years) and adolescents (ages 18-20 years). It also assessed the association between total water intake from all sources assessed from 24-h recalls with bone mass.

Study Population

The data for children (ages 10-13 years) were from the baseline visit of the MetA-Bone Trial, a trial to determine the effects of soluble corn fiber (SCF) supplementation for one year on bone metabolism in healthy children.¹⁴ Inclusion criteria for children of the MetA-Bone Trial were ages 10-13 years, with low calcium intake (2 or fewer servings of dairy products/day), and adequate vitamin D levels. Children were excluded if they had chronic illnesses requiring medication use and regular use of calcium (>200 mg/d) or vitamin D supplements (> 400 IU/d). Children were recruited throughout Miami-Dade Schools, clinics, after-school programs, emails, online, among other strategies in South Florida. Interested parents completed a short pre-screening questionnaire to verify the eligibility of their child and if eligible, parents were asked to sign the consent form, and children were asked to sign the assent form. The use of the protocols was approved by the Institutional Review Board at Florida International University (IRB-21-0429).

The data for adolescents (ages 18-20 years) was collected directly from college students at Florida International University. Any adolescents with the presence of chronic illness requiring medication use were excluded. Adolescents were recruited using flyers distributed in classes or by email through faculty and staff. Those interested were explained the study and were asked to answer a brief pre-screening questionnaire with the inclusion criteria. If eligible, participants were asked to sign the consent form. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Florida International University (IRB-22-0045).

Measurements

<u>General questionnaire</u>. Participants were administered a questionnaire to record participant's age, sex, race, and ethnicity.

Anthropometric measurements. Weight and height were obtained from the participants wearing light clothing, utilizing a standardized scale and a wall-mounted stadiometer. Both weight and height were measured to the nearest 0.1 kg and 0.1 cm, respectively.¹⁵ Height was measured with the participant's back and heels touching the vertical board of the stadiometer. The moveable headboard was adjusted based on the participant's height and brought to the most superior point with sufficient pressure to compress the hair.¹⁵ BMI percentiles for sex and age were calculated using the CDC standardized growth charts.¹⁶

<u>Physical activity.</u> Participants were asked to complete a short version of the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) to assess physical activity based on the intensity of the activities during the previous seven days (e.g., moderate versus vigorous) as part of the study visit.¹⁷

<u>24-h dietary recalls.</u> Participants were asked to complete three 24-hour dietary recalls; the first one was completed in-person, and the two others were completed in the next few days to represent 2 weekdays and 1 weekend day. The participant's food description was reviewed with the participant to ensure completeness and correctness. The 24-hour dietary recalls were analyzed using the dietary computer-based analysis software application 'Nutrition Data System for Research (NDSR)' developed at the University of Minnesota Nutrition Coordinating Center (NCC). Data for total water intake from all sources (all beverages and foods) was used in the analyses.

<u>Bone mass.</u> This was measured through a whole-body scan using the Hologic-Dual-Energy-X-Ray Absorptiometry (DEXA). Participants were asked to lie down for 10 minutes for the DEXA scan while wearing no shoes and light clothing. DEXA was operated by a trained and certified personnel. The analysis provided data for total bone mineral content (BMC) in grams and bone mineral density (BMD) in grams/cm².¹⁸ Binary variables were created for these measures and was coded 0 as "below the median" and 1 as "above the median."

Objective marker of hydration status. Participants were asked to collect urine for 24-h to assess hydration status using Urine Specific Gravity (USG). For this, participants were provided with a urine hat to initially collect the urine and then transfer it to the urine containers. Participants were instructed to store the urine in the refrigerator throughout their collection until they were brought back to the lab. The first sample was collected at the study visit and the rest after the study visit. The total volume and USG were measured in the laboratory at Florida International University. For total volume, the urine from the different containers was combined in a volumetric cylinder. The sample of 0.3 ml was transferred into the ATAGO PAL 10S digital pocket refractometer that utilizes a refractive index method to measure USG. The urine sample was placed on the refractometer's prism and analyzed to reveal the measurement value within 3 seconds. Removal of the sample was cleaned using a Kim wipe along with the removal of excess moisture on the prism before the next sample. Zero testing was performed after each participant's testing by placing three drops of deionized water with a plastic dropper on the prism service. The refractometer has a urinary USG range of 1.000 to 1.060 with a resolution of 0.001.¹⁹ USG refractometry score results are based on the number, mass,

and chemical structure of the dissolved particles in the urine, so the higher the number, the higher the concentration. Testing was conducted three times for each participant to verify stable USG values. If results varied, an additional measurement was made to provide consistent results. The average of the three measurements was used as the final level. Participants with USG values < 1.020 μ G were considered euhydrated, and those with USG values > 1.020 μ G were dehydrated.^{20–22} USG values above > 1.030 μ G indicated participants were severely dehydrated.²²

Statistical Analysis

For descriptive statistics, categorical variables were presented as frequencies and percentages, while continuous variables were presented as mean ± standard deviation. Two-sample t-tests were used to compare mean values between age groups and chi-square and Fisher's exact tests were used to compare differences in proportions between groups. To examine the association between hydration status (assessed from USG in a 24-h urine sample) and bone mass and bone mineral content in the sample, a series of linear and logistic regressions were used, adjusting for age, sex, and physical activity. To assess the overall fit of the regression equation and or/model to the observed data, fit indices (e.g. R²) were examined. Normality was tested using the Shapiro-Wilk test. For non-normally distributed variables, log-transformations were used to test linear association. Regression coefficients were evaluated to further examine the individual contribution of each predictor variable to the equation and/or model. Medians or respective distributions were used for logistic regression to categorize bone parameters as below or above the median. Linear regression was also used to explore the association
between total water intake from all sources assessed from 24-h food recalls and bone parameters (assessed from DEXA). All analyses were performed using SPSS software Version 26.0 and significance was evaluated at an alpha level of 0.05.

Results

A total of 52 participants were included in the study consisting of 18 children and 34 adolescents. Table 1 shows the characteristics of these groups; sex distribution was similar between age groups, and most were Hispanic or Latino (73.1%), which was similar between age groups. The overall group was classified as normal weight based on their BMI percentile with no difference by age group. Total water intake from all sources, physical activity, BMD and BMC were significantly higher in adolescents (18-20 years) compared to children (10-13 years; p<0.05).

Variable	Overall (n=52)	10-13 (n=18)	18-20 (n=34)	P-Value
	M	lean $\pm SD$ or $N(2)$	9%)	
Age, y	17.0 ± 3.72	12.0 ± 1.37	19.1 ± 0.64	0.000*
Sex				
Female	26 (50.0)	8 (44.4)	18 (52.9)	0.560
Male	26 (50.0)	10 (55.6)	16 (47.1)	
Race				
White	30 (57.7)	2 (11.1)	28 (82.4)	0.000*
African American	4 (7.7)	3 (16.7)	1 (2.9)	
Asian	2 (3.8)		2 (5.9)	
Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander	2 (3.8)		2 (5.9)	
Other	14 (26.9)	13 (72.2)	1 (2.9)	
Hispanic or Latino	38 (73.1)	13 (72.2)	25 (73.5)	0.919
IPAQ score (MET)	3639 ± 3714	1729 ± 1328	4540 ± 4194	0.001*
BMI percentile	64.0 ± 24.8	58.0 ± 27.8	67.0 ± 24.7	0.278
Total water intake	1831 ± 841.4	1307 ± 543.8	2109 ± 843.9	0.001*

 Table 1. Characteristics of the study population (N=52)

USG (µG)	1.018 ± 0.005	1.020 ± 0.006	1.017 ± 0.005	0.072
BMD, g/cm ²	1.10 ± 0.17	0.90 ± 0.81	1.20 ± 0.10	0.000*
BMC, g	2087 ± 636.7	1400 ± 300.6	2451 ± 431.4	0.000*

*Significant difference between age groups at p<0.05 by independent sample t-test or Chisquare. Abbreviations: IPAQ, International Physical Activity Questionnaire, USG, urine specific gravity, BMD, bone mineral density, BMC, bone mineral content.

Table 2 displays the linear regressions between BMD and BMC with hydration status assessed from USG in 24-h urine samples. After adjusting age, sex, and physical activity, no significant associations were found overall or by age groups.

Table 3 shows the linear regressions between BMD and BMC with total water intake from all sources assessed from 24-h food recalls. In the unadjusted model, there was a positive significant association between total water intake from all sources and BMD (B = 0.49, p<0.05) and BMC (B= 19.8, p<0.05) overall and for BMC (B = 9.23, p<0.05) in children (ages 10-13 years). However, after adjusting for sex and physical activity, the association was only significant for BMC (B = 9.48, p<0.05) in children (ages 10-13 years). Table 2. Linear regressions between hydration status (assessed from USG in 24-h urine samples) and BMD and BMC (assessed from a DEXA scan) in children (10-13y) and adolescents (18-20y).

				Sim	ple lin	ear regre	ssion						Adju	sted lin	near regre	ession ¹		
Bone parameter	Overall			Children (10-13 years) Adolescents (18-20 years)					Overall		Children (10-13 years) Adolescents (18-20 years)							
		Overa	11		(n = 1	8)		(n = 3	34)		Overal	1		(n = 1	18)		(n =	34)
	в	SE	P- value	В	SE	P-value	В	SE	P-value	В	SE	P- value	В	SE	P-value	В	SE	P-value
BMD	-6.86	4.11	0.101	-5.39	2.88	0.080	3.20	3.50	0.367	1.41	2.45	0.568	-5.93	3.15	0.080	3.40	3.55	0.345
BMC ²	-23.2	15.45	0.139	-17.4	10.9	0.130	12.39	14.81	0.409	2.44	9.56	0.800	20.0	11.8	0.114	8.13	13.5	0.552

¹Adjusted for age, sex, and physical activity overall and sex and physical activity only among age groups. ²Variable was rescaled by dividing by 1000. *Statistically significant values (p<0.05) are in bold. Abbreviations: BMD, bone mineral density, BMC, bone mineral content.

Table 3. Linear regressions between total water intake (assessed from 24-h food recalls) and BMD and BMC (assessed from a DEXA scan) in children (10-13y) and adolescents (18-20y).

				Sim	ple liı	near regr	ession						Adju	isted li	inear regr	ession ¹		
Bone parameter	Overall			Ch	Children (10-13 years)			Adolescents (18-20 years)			Overall		Children (10-13 years)		Adolescents (18-20 years)			
					(n =	18)		(n = 3	(4)					(n =	18)		(n =	34)
	В	SE	P-value	В	SE	P-value	в	SE	P-value	В	SE	P-value	В	SE	P-value	В	SE	P-value
BMD	0.49	0.11	0.000	0.17	0.11	0.136	0.11	0.11	0.321	0.08	0.85	0.345	0.18	0.12	0.161	0.08	0.12	0.493
BMC ²	19.8	3.79	0.000	9.23	3.68	0.023	7.28	4.65	0.127	4.42	3.29	0.186	9.48	4.08	0.036	2.98	4.53	0.516

¹Adjusted for age, sex, and physical activity overall and sex and physical activity only among age groups. ²Variable was rescaled by dividing by 100. *Statistically significant values (p<0.05) are in bold. Abbreviations: BMD, bone mineral density, BMC, bone mineral content.

Table 4 displays the logistic regression between hydration status or total water intake from all sources with BMD, and BMC. Hydration status was categorized as "euhydrated" and "dehydrated," while total water intake from all sources, BMD, and BMC were categorized as "below the median" or "above the median". Due to the small sample size, analyses were conducted for the overall sample only. No significant associations were found between BMD and BMC with hydration status in the unadjusted model or after adjusting for age, sex, and physical activity. However, in the unadjusted model for BMC, those with lower total water intake from all sources had 3.57 times higher odds of being below the median for BMC than those with higher total water intake from all sources (OR 3.57, 95% CI: 1.38, 11.19). After adjusting for age, sex, and physical activity, the association was similar in magnitude (OR 3.14 95% CI 0.97, 10.12, p=0.055).

Table 4. Logistic regression between hydration categories and total water intake categories and BMD and BMC categories in the sample.

			Overall	
Bone Categories ²	OR (95% CI)	p-value	Adjusted OR ¹ (95% CI)	p-value
BMD ² and hydration status				
Euhydrated (USG < 1.020μ G)	1		1	
<i>Dehydrated</i> (<i>USG</i> \geq 1.020 µG)	0.86 (0.29, 2.55)	0.781	0.60 (0.18, 2.02)	0.407
BMC ² and hydration status				
Euhydrated (USG < $1.020 \ \mu G$)	1		1	
Dehydrated (USG $\geq 1.020 \ \mu G$)	0.46 (0.15, 1.39)	0.168	0.39 (0.11, 1.34)	0.132
BMD ² and total water intake				
Above the median for total water intake	1		1	
Below the median for total water intake	2.56 (0.84, 7.83)	0.099	2.57 (0.80, 8.28)	0.113
BMC^2 and total water intake				
Above the median for total water intake	1		1	
Below the median for total water intake	3.57 (1.38, 11.19)	0.029	3.14 (0.97, 10.12)	0.055

¹Logistic regressions were adjusted for age, sex, and physical activity.

²Reference category is above the median for all bone parameters.

*Statistically significant values (p<0.05) are in bold. Abbreviations: BMD, bone mineral density, BMC, bone mineral content.

Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first study to explore an association between hydration status (measured from USG in a 24-h urine sample and assessed from three 24h dietary recalls) with BMD and BMC (assessed using DEXA) in US children and adolescents. Total water intake from all sources was positively and significantly associated with BMC in the linear and logistic regressions. The linear regression model showed that a higher total water intake from all sources was associated with a greater BMC in the overall sample (B = 19.8, p<0.05) and in children (ages 10-13 years) (B = 9.23, p<0.05). The logistic regression models showed that those with a lower water intake had 3.57 times higher odds of having a low BMC (OR 3.57; 95 CI%: 1.38, 11.19).

There are no studies exploring the association between total fluid intake and bone health in children and adolescents. In older adults, those that were adequately hydrated (measured by TBW) had a lower risk of osteoporosis (OR = 0.76, 95% CI, 0.66-0.88, p<0.0001).¹² The evidence in children and adolescents is limited to evaluating bone parameters between drinkers of water with high levels of minerals or low level of minerals or by evaluating the intake of certain beverages. For example, a study conducted in China with 660 children ages 10-13 years found a significant positive association between consumption of high mineralized water and bone mineral content (BMC) (p<0.01).²³ However, BMC was estimated from bioelectrical impedance analysis, and they did not evaluate overall fluid consumption from the 3-day food records, but rather divided the group by low or regular levels of minerals in the water consumed. Another study conducted in Korea in 2,499 children and adolescents ages 12-25 years found a significant inverse association between a high consumption of cola sodas (assessed from

66

24-h dietary recall) and BMD (measured using DEXA) in males (p<0.05), however they failed to assess total fluid intake.²⁴ Another study conducted in 228 German children and adolescents ages 6-18 years found a significant inverse association between long-term consumption of soft drinks and non-caffeinated drinks (assessed from 3-day food records) with BMC (measured from XCT-2000) (p<0.05), however total fluid intake was not evaluated.²⁵

Although the biological mechanism is not clear, total fluid intake is important for bones given its inverse relationship with BMD and strength from in vitro studies involving specimens of human femurs and cortical bone.^{10,11} Since proper hydration is important for overall health,^{26–28} it may also be important for bone mass accretion at the most important stage for bone development, from early puberty to late adolescences. Bone accretion depends on several factors, such as changes in the structure and composition of bone, in which water in the microscopic pores of bone and extracellular matrix may cause a decline in collagen as a result lead to dehydration.⁹

The strength of the present study is measuring hydration status using an objective marker from 24-h urine samples and from three 24-hour dietary recalls. In addition, this study also measured bone parameters using DEXA. Among the limitations is the small convenience sample size of children and adolescents. A larger sample may be needed to find significant associations between BMD and BMC and hydration status using USG. Also, USG was chosen as the objective marker for the present study instead of urine osmolality, urine color, FWR, and TBW due to its ability to adapt to pediatric populations and use without technical expertise, suitable to studies with a larger sample size and limited resources.¹⁹ In addition, USG and urine osmolality have been used in

67

conjunction due to similar specificity (91%) and sensitivity (89%) scores.²⁹ However, during acute exercise, both urine osmolality and USG measures could be overestimated, lowering their specificity.²¹ Although the present study was not done among athletes, it did not record if participants had exercised while collecting the urine sample. In addition, other measures may impact the association with USG as protein, glucose, ketones, bilirubin, and urobilinogen may alter the results if present in the urine. ³¹ During proteinuria, each 10g/1 protein may increase USG by 0.003 when measured by refractometry. Similar is shown for every 10 g/1 of glucose may increase USG by approximately 0.002.³¹ Therefore, other objective markers may need to be tested in this population to account for limitations.

In conclusion, our findings showed that total water intake from all sources was significantly associated with BMC in both the linear and logistic regression models, which may provide insight to the importance of children and adolescent's water intake to have a greater BMC during the most important stage for bone accretion. Future research should be conducted to explore other objective markers of hydration that may serve as a better predictor of bone mass along with a larger sample to explore the associations between hydration and bone mass in this population.

References

- 1. Looker AC, Sarafrazi Isfahani N, Fan B, Shepherd JA. Trends in osteoporosis and low bone mass in older US adults, 2005–2006 through 2013–2014. *Osteoporosis International*. 2017;28(6):1979. doi:10.1007/S00198-017-3996-1
- 2. Weaver CM, Gordon CM, Janz KF, et al. The National Osteoporosis Foundation's position statement on peak bone mass development and lifestyle factors: a systematic review and implementation recommendations. *Osteoporosis International*. 2016;27(4):1281-1386. doi:10.1007/s00198-015-3440-3

- 3. Sahni S, Mangano KM, McLean RR, Hannan MT, Kiel DP. Dietary approaches for bone health: lessons from the Framingham Osteoporosis Study. *Current Osteoporosis Reports*. 2015;13(4):245. doi:10.1007/S11914-015-0272-1
- 4. Denova-Gutiérrez E, Clark P, Tucker KL, Muñoz-Aguirre P, Salmerón J. Dietary patterns are associated with bone mineral density in an urban Mexican adult population. *Osteoporosis International*. 2016;27(10):3033-3040. doi:10.1007/S00198-016-3633-4/TABLES/3
- 5. Proia P, Amato A, Drid P, Korovljev D, Vasto S, Baldassano S. The Impact of Diet and Physical Activity on Bone Health in Children and Adolescents. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*. 2021;12:1080. doi:10.3389/FENDO.2021.704647/BIBTEX
- 6. Langsetmo L, Poliquin S, Hanley DA, et al. Dietary patterns in Canadian men and women ages 25 and older: Relationship to demographics, body mass index, and bone mineral density. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*. 2010;11(1):1-11. doi:10.1186/1471-2474-11-20/FIGURES/3
- Mazidi M, Kengne AP, Vatanparast H. Association of dietary patterns of American adults with bone mineral density and fracture. *Public Health Nutrition*. 2018;21(13):2417-2423. doi:10.1017/S1368980018000939
- 8. Hardcastle AC, Aucott L, Fraser WD, Reid DM, MacDonald HM. Dietary patterns, bone resorption and bone mineral density in early post-menopausal Scottish women. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2011;65(3):378-385. doi:10.1038/EJCN.2010.264
- 9. Gul-E-Noor F, Singh C, Papaioannou A, Sinha N, Boutis GS. The Behavior of Water in Collagen and Hydroxyapatite Sites of Cortical Bone: Fracture, Mechanical Wear, and Load Bearing Studies HHS Public Access. *Journal of Physical Chemistry C Nanomaterials & Interfaces*. 2015;119(37):21528-21537. doi:10.1021/acs.jpcc
- Granke M, Does MD, Nyman JS. The Role of Water Compartments in the Material Properties of Cortical Bone. *Calcified Tissue International*. 2015;97(3):292-307. doi:10.1007/s00223-015-9977-5
- 11. Nyman JS, Ni Q, Nicolella DP, Wang X. *MEASURMENTS OF MOBILE AND* BOUND WATER BY NUCLEAR MAGNETIC RESONANCE CORRELATE WITH MECHANICAL PROPERTIES OF BONE. Vol 42.; 2008.
- Da Silva AP, Matos A, Ribeiro R, et al. Sarcopenia and osteoporosis in Portuguese centenarians. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2017;71(1):56-63. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2016.174

- 13. Zorbas OY, Kakuris K, Neofitov N, Afoninos V. Bone histomorphometric values in healthy subjects during hypokinesia with and without fluid and salt supplementation. *Trace Elements and Electrolytes*. 2006;23(2):86-92.
- Palacios C, Trak-Fellermeier MA, Pérez CM, et al. Effect of Soluble Corn Fiber supplementation for 1 year on bone metabolism in children, the MetA-Bone Trial: Rationale and Design. *Contemporary Clinical Trials*. 2020;95:106061. doi:10.1016/J.CCT.2020.106061
- 15. Center for Health Statistics N. Anthropometry Procedures Manual. Published online 2017.
- 16. Growth Charts Individual Growth Charts. Accessed May 4, 2022. https://www.cdc.gov/growthcharts/charts.htm
- 17. Craig CL, Marshall AL, Sjöström M, et al. International physical activity questionnaire: 12-country reliability and validity. *Medicine & Science in Sports Exercise*. 2003;35(8):1381-1395. doi:10.1249/01.MSS.0000078924.61453.FB
- 18. Dual Energy X-ray Absorptiometry (DXA) Procedures Manual. Published online 2007.
- 19. Wang B, Tang C, Wang H, et al. Influence of body mass index status on urinary creatinine and specific gravity for epidemiological study of children. *European Journal of Pediatrics*. 2015;174(11):1481-1489. doi:10.1007/s00431-015-2558-9
- 20. Logan-Sprenger HM, Spriet LL. The acute effects of fluid intake on urine specific gravity and fluid retention in a mildly dehydrated state. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*. 2013;27(4):1002-1008. doi:10.1519/JSC.0B013E31826052C7
- 21. Sommerfield LM, McAnulty SR, McBride JM, et al. Validity of Urine Specific Gravity When Compared With Plasma Osmolality as a Measure of Hydration Status in Male and Female NCAA Collegiate Athletes. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*. 2016;30(8):2219-2225. doi:10.1519/JSC.000000000001313
- 22. Dolan MG, MDM, ELE. *Best Practice for Clinical Hydration Measurement.*; 2009.
- 23. Huang Y, Ma X, Tan Y, et al. Consumption of Very Low Mineral Water Is Associated with Lower Bone Mineral Content in Children. *The Journal of Nutrition*. 2019;149(11):1994-2000. doi:10.1093/JN/NXZ161
- 24. Kim YA, Yoo JH. Associations between cola consumption and bone mineral density in Korean adolescents and young adults: a cross-sectional study using data

from the Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2008–2011. *Journal of Nutritional Science*. 2020;9:1-7. doi:10.1017/JNS.2020.49

- 25. Libuda L, Alexy U, Remer T, Stehle P, Schoenau E, Kersting M. Association between long-term consumption of soft drinks and variables of bone modeling and remodeling in a sample of healthy German children and adolescents. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2008;88(6):1670-1677. doi:10.3945/AJCN.2008.26414
- 26. Chang T, Ravi N, Plegue MA, Sonneville KR, Davis MM. Inadequate hydration, BMI, and obesity among US adults: NHANES 2009-2012. *Annals of Family Medicine*. 2016;14(4):320-324. doi:10.1370/afm.1951
- 27. Maffeis C, Tommasi M, Tomasselli F, et al. Fluid intake and hydration status in obese vs normal weight children. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2016;70(5):560-565. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2015.170
- 28. García AIL, Moráis-Moreno C, Samaniego-Vaesken M de L, Puga AM, Varela-Moreiras G, Partearroyo T. Association between Hydration Status and Body Composition in Healthy Adolescents from Spain. *Nutrients*. 2019;11(11). doi:10.3390/NU11112692
- 29. Baron S, Courbebaisse M, Lepicard EM, Friedlander G. Assessment of hydration status in a large population. *British Journal of Nutrition*. 2015;113(1):147-158. doi:10.1017/S0007114514003213
- 30. View of Urine specific gravity as a diagnostic tool for dehydration in children. Accessed May 7, 2022. https://paediatricaindonesiana.org/index.php/paediatricaindonesiana/article/view/996/813
- Imran S, Eva G, Christopher S, Flynn E, Henner D. Is specific gravity a good estimate of urine osmolality? *Journal of Clinical Laboratory Analysis*. 2010;24(6):426. doi:10.1002/JCLA.20424

CHAPTER V: SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The association between hydration status and total fluid intake

In a sample of 52 children (10-13 years) and adolescents (18-20 years), USG score (objective measure of hydration) was similar between age groups, and it was on average 1.018 \pm 0.005 uG; with 36.5% categorized as dehydrated. Total water intake from all sources (foods and beverages) was significantly higher in adolescents (2109 \pm 844 g/d) compared to children (1307 \pm 544 g/d; p<0.01). A total of 86.5% failed to meet the DRIs for total water intake from all sources amongst both groups. Intake of beverages and foods with hydration status showed water intake, fruit juice, all beverages, total water intake from all sources, and vegetables were significantly and inversely correlated with USG in the overall sample. The logistic model showed intake of water (OR 1.001; 95% CI: 1.000, 1.002), fruit juice (1.011, 95% CI: 0.018), all beverages (OR 1.001, 95% CI: 1.000, 1.002), and total water intake from all sources (OR 1.001, 95% CI: 1.000, 1002) was significantly associated with higher odds of being euhydrated. Results showed total water intake from all sources and types of foods and beverages, are associated with hydration status.

The association between hydration status and body composition

In a sample of 52 children (10-13 years) and adolescents (18-20 years), body fat % was similar by age groups and it was on average 32.2 ± 7.31 . FFM was significantly higher in adolescents (47.5 ± 8.16) compared to children (30.9 ± 6.92; p<0.05). Body fat % and FFM were not significantly associated with USG in the linear regression models. However, FFM was significantly associated with total water intake from all sources in the overall sample (B = 18.2, p<0.05) and in children 10-13 years old (B = 21.5, p<0.04). The logistic regression models showed those consuming total water intake from all sources below the median had significantly lower OR of being above the median for FFM (OR 0.23, 95% CI 0.05, 0.96); in other words, having a low total water intake was associated with having less FFM. Results may provide insight to the importance of children and adolescent's water intake and body composition.

The association between hydration status and bone

In a sample of 52 children (10-13 years) and adolescents (18-20 years), BMD, BMD-z score, and BMC were significantly higher in adolescents compared to children, as expected (p<0.05). No significant associations were found overall or by age groups between BMD and BMC with hydration status assessed from USG in a 24-h sample in both linear and logistic regressions. A positive significant association was found between total water intake from all sources and BMD (B = 0.49, p<0.05) and BMC (B = 19.8, p<0.05) in the overall group in the unadjusted model. Adjusting for sex and physical activity, BMC remained significant although only in children (B = 9.48, p<0.05). Logistic regression showed there was a significantly higher OR of being below the median for BMC among those consuming total water intake from all sources below the median (OR 3.57, 95% CI: 1.38, 11.19) compared to being above the median. Results showed that a higher total water intake from all sources is associated with greater BMC during the most pivotal stage of bone accretion.

CHAPTER VI: STRENGTH AND LIMITATIONS

The study presented evidence on the potential association between body composition and bone with hydration status measured by different methods in US children and adolescents as no studies to our knowledge have explored this association. The study was strengthened due to its ability to collect 24-hour urine samples to assess hydration status and the use of three 24-hour dietary recalls analyzed using NDSR to assess food and beverage intake. In addition, this study used the gold standard for measuring body composition using the DEXA scan, which several of the studies reported failed to use. Another strength is that all anthropometric data was measured and collected by trained study personnel, and this eliminated the use of self-reporting.

Among the limitations is the small convenience sample size of children and adolescent from south Florida, which is predominately Hispanic, and may not be generalizable to others from differing geographical, cultural, racial, and ethnic backgrounds. This can result in an inability to explore racial differences in dietary patterns, body composition, and hydration status. Furthermore, a small sample size may cause minimal to no statistical significance or trend that could be potentially significant in a larger sample. The present study was also a cross-sectional study and collecting longitudinal data could provide a better understanding of the associations being analyzed. Lastly, future studies should evaluate other objective markers of hydration when evaluating the associations with body composition and bone mass in US children and adolescents to determine whether the type of objective marker used is important when exploring this association. Despite these limitations, the present study's findings can

74

provide an understanding of the role of total water intake from all sources in changes in children and adolescent's body composition and bone development.

APPENDIX 1 – Recruitment flyer



APPENDIX 2 – IRB Approved consent forms

FIU IRB Approval:	01/26/2022
FIU IRB Expiration:	01/26/2023
FIU IRB Number:	IRB-22-0045



ADULT CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE IN A RESEARCH STUDY Hydration and the association of body composition and bone mass in college students

SUMMARY INFORMATION

Things you should know about this study:

- □ **<u>Purpose</u>**: The purpose of the study is to associate hydration, body fat percentage, fat-free mass, and bone mass in college students.
- □ **<u>Procedures</u>**: If you choose to participate, you will be asked to undergo a bone scan, body measurements, provide a 24-h urine sample, and complete questionnaires.
- Duration: This will take about 2 hours.
- □ **<u>Risks</u>**: The main risk from this research is very small radiation with the bone scan.
- **Benefits:** The main benefit to you from this research is receiving a copy of the bone scan with your body fat percentage, fat-free mass, and bone mass.
- Alternatives: There are no known alternatives available to you other than not taking part in this study.
- **<u>Participation</u>**: Taking part in this research project is voluntary.

Please carefully read the entire document before agreeing to participate.

PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

The purpose of this study is to associate hydration, body fat percentage, fat-free mass, and bone mass in college students.

NUMBER OF STUDY PARTICIPANTS

If you decide to be in this study, you will be one of 50 people in this research study.

DURATION OF THE STUDY

Your participation will involve a visit to our lab in AHC5-100 to complete questionnaires, undergo a bone scan, undergo weight and height measurements, and provide the first urine sample from the 24-h urine collection (about 1 hour). At home, you will continue with the urine sample collection (about 30 minutes) and 2 additional 24-h diet recalls (about 15 minutes each).

PROCEDURES

If you agree to be in the study, we will ask you to do the following things:

- 1. Initial questionnaire: you will provide your phone number, email, and address. You will also complete questions about your age, gender, race/ethnicity, and about your general health.
- 2. 24-h food recalls: you will complete questions about the foods and beverages consumed in the last 24-hours. You will repeat this on 2 different days at home.
- 3. Weight and height: we will measure your weight and height while wearing light clothes (shorts and t-shirt) and no shoes in a private room.
- 4. Bone scan: you will undergo a bone scan, which is a test to measure your body fat percentage, fat-free mass, and bone mass using an instrument called "DXA" (Hologic). This is a test similar to X-rays but improved and with much less radiation (about 1.5 mrem, which is less than what one is

Page 1 of 3

FIU IRB Approval:	01/26/2022
FIU IRB Expiration:	01/26/2023
FIU IRB Number:	IRB-22-0045

exposed to when traveling on an airplane). It will not cause you any damage or injury. For this test, you will lie on a bed and the scanner will scan the body for approximately 7 minutes. If you are female, we will ask if you if you are pregnant. If pregnant, you will not undergo the bone scan and will not be able to continue in the study

5. Urine collection: you will collect urine for 24-hours. You will start the urine collection as part of this visit and then continue at home. We will explain in detail how to do this collection and we will give you written instructions. Your contact information will be used to remind you to return your collection once completed. In addition, we will provide collectors and bio-safety bags for the sample. You will bring these to the lab the next day. We will follow-up for 4 weeks to remind you to complete this task.

RISKS AND/OR DISCOMFORTS

The study has the following possible risks to you:

- Risk of the bone scan: for this test, you will be exposed to small radiation that will go through immediately (1.5 mrem). X-rays usually do not have side effects, and the amount of radiation is extremely small, which is much less than the dose of an arm x-ray (less than what one is exposed to when traveling on an airplane). The radiation does not remain in the body when the test is completed. Ask the Principal Investigator if you have questions about this risk.
- 2. Discomfort when measuring weight and height: for this, you will wear no shoes and light clothes (shorts and t-shirt). This may cause a little discomfort.
- 3. Discomfort when collecting urine: you will have to urinate into a urine collector for 24-hours at home. This could be a little uncomfortable.
- 4. Risks of disclosure of personal information.

BENEFITS

The study has the following possible benefits to you: receive a copy of the bone scan, which provides your body fat percentage, fat-free mass, and bone mass. The results of the study will help us understand how hydration influences body fat percentage, fat-free mass, and bone mass.

ALTERNATIVES

There are no known alternatives available to you other than not taking part in this study. Any significant new findings developed during the course of the research which may relate to your willingness to continue participation will be provided to you.

CONFIDENTIALITY

The records of this study will be kept private and will be protected to the fullest extent provided by law. In any sort of report, we might publish, we will not include any information that will make it possible to identify you. Research records will be stored securely, and only the researcher team will have access to the records. However, your records may be inspected by authorized University or other agents who will also keep the information confidential.

USE OF YOUR INFORMATION

• Identifiers about you might be removed from the identifiable private information and identifiable biospecimens (urine) and that, after such removal, the information and biospecimens could be used for future research studies or distributed to another investigator for future research studies without additional informed consent from you.

Page 2 of 3

FIU IRB Approval:	01/26/2022
FIU IRB Expiration:	01/26/2023
FIU IRB Number:	IRB-22-0045

Your biospecimen (urine) may be used for commercial profit and you will not share in this commercial profit.

COMPENSATION & COSTS

You will receive a payment of \$10 (online gift card) for completing the visit and \$10 (online gift card) for completing the additional 24-h dietary recalls and the 24-h urine collections. You will also receive small study tokens after you complete all study procedures, such as snacks. There are no costs to you for participating in this study.

MEDICAL TREATMENT

Routinely, FIU, its agents, or its employees do not compensate for or provide free care for human subjects in the event that any injury results from participation in a research project. If you become ill or injured as a direct result of participating in this study, contact your regular medical provider. If you have insurance, your insurance company may or may not pay for these costs. If you do not have insurance, or if your insurance company refuses to pay, you will be billed. Funds to compensate for pain, expenses, lost wages and other damages caused by injury are not routinely available.

RIGHT TO DECLINE OR WITHDRAW

Your participation in this study is voluntary. You are free to participate in the study or withdraw your consent at any time during the study. You will not lose any benefits if you decide not to participate or if you guit the study early. The investigator reserves the right to remove you without your consent at such time that he/she feels it is in the best interest.

RESEARCHER CONTACT INFORMATION

If you have any questions about the purpose, procedures, or any other issues relating to this research study you may contact Cristina Palacios at (305) 348-3235 or cristina.palacios@fiu.edu.

IRB CONTACT INFORMATION

If you would like to talk with someone about your rights of being a subject in this research study or about ethical issues with this research study, you may contact the FIU Office of Research Integrity by phone at 305-348-2494 or by email at ori@fiu.edu.

PARTICIPANT AGREEMENT

I have read the information in this consent form and agree to participate in this study. I have had a chance to ask any questions I have about this study, and they have been answered for me. I understand that I will be given a copy of this form for my records.

Signature of Participant

Printed Name of Participant

Signature of Person Obtaining Consent

Page 3 of 3

81

Date

Date

APPENDIX 3 – Researcher administered questionnaire

	Recorder ID:	_ Participant ID:	Date: _	//
	He	ealth form		
I. General information				
1. What is your date of	birth? (month/day/y	ear)://	_	
2. How old are you tod	ay?			
3. Are you Hispanic? Y	es No			
4. what is your race? White		American India	an or Alaska Nati	ve
Black or A	frican American	Native Hawaiia	an or Other Pacif	ic Islander
Asian		Other Race, sp	becify	
II. Health history				
 Have you ever had a If Yes, how m 	a fracture? No Ny times?	Yes Date of last frac	ture://	
2. Do you use medicat	ons? No Yes	i		
For w	nat?			
3. Are you lactose intol	erant? No	Yes I	do not know	_
If yes: Who d	agnose it?			
How m	any years ago?			
What o	hanges have you do	one in your diet?		
4. Have you ever smol	ed? No Ye	es		
If yes: How fr	equently do you smo	oke? times	s per day	
		times per w	ionth	
When	you smoke, how ma	ny cigarettes do yo	u smoke?	
5. Have you ever drunl No Ye	alcohol (beer, wine s	e, rum, breezers, gii	n, etc.) more thai	n a sip?
If yes: How fr	equently do you drin	k?times	s per day	
		times	s per week s per month	
When you dri	nk, how much do yo	u drink?	_	
III. Sun exposure				
1. How many hours do	you usually spend o	outdoors?		
2. When outdoors, do y (1) Arms co (2) Legs co	vou usually have? (n vered vered	nark all that applies	;) :	

1

(3) Head and face covered (4) Feet covered	
3. How easily do you burn when exposed to the sun?	<pre> very quickly quickly not that quickly not at all</pre>
Do you use sunscreen? No Yes	
If yes: How much SPF?	
How frequently? days per wee	k

IV. Sleep

In the last month, indicate the frequency for each question:

Question	Always	Almost always	Some- times	Almost never	Never
1. How often do you fall asleep or sleep during class hours?					
2. How often do you fall asleep or get sleepy while doing homework?					
Are you attentive or alert most of the day?					
4. How often do you feel tired and moody during the day?					
5. How often do you find it hard to get out of bed in the morning?					
6. How often do you fall asleep again after you woke up in the morning?					
7. How often do you need someone to wake you up in the morning?					
8. How often do you feel you need to sleep longer?					

V. Stress

In the last month, indicate the frequency for each question:

	Question	Always	Almost always	Someti mes	Almost never	Never
1.	Have you felt unable to control important situations in your life?					
2.	Have you felt nervous and stressed?					
3.	Have you ever felt confident in your way to manage your personal problems?					
4.	Have you felt that things happen the way you want them to be?					
5.	Have you had difficulties that you cannot solve?					

Physical Activity Questionnaire

Vigorous activities

This refer to activities that take hard physical effort and make you breathe much harder than normal. Think *only* about those that you did for at least 10 minutes at a time.

1. During the **last 7 days**, on how many days did you do **vigorous** physical activities such as like heavy lifting, digging, aerobics, fast bicycling, playing sports or games outdoors such as Football, Basketball, Running, Tag etc.

____days per week ____None \rightarrow Skip to question 3

2. How much time did you usually spend doing vigorous physical activities on one of those days?

___hours per day ____minutes per day

Moderate activities

This refer to activities that take moderate physical effort and make you breathe somewhat harder than normal. Think only about those that you did for at least 10 minutes at a time

3. During the **last 7 days**, on how many days did you do **moderate** physical activities like carrying light loads like book bags/grocery bags, bicycling at a regular pace, riding skateboards or scooters, playing with friends in a park, playing interactive video games like virtual reality 'VR' or Dancing, etc. Do not include walking.

____days per week ____None \rightarrow Skip to question 5

4. How much time did you usually spend doing **moderate** physical activities on one of those days?

___hours per day ___minutes per day

SHORT LAST 7 DAYS SELF-ADMINISTERED version of the IPAQ. Revised August 2002.

Walking

This includes walking to school from home and from home to school, walking at the mall, walking around your neighborhood, etc.

5. During the last 7 days, on how many days did you walk for at least 10 minutes at a time?

days per week None \rightarrow Skip to question
--

6. How much time did you usually spend **walking** on one of those days? ____hours per day ____minutes per day

<u>Sitting</u>

This includes time spent at home or at school, while doing course work and during leisure time. This may include time spent sitting at a desk to study, read or do homework, visiting friends, sitting, or lying down to watch television, time spent playing videogames and using social media.

7. During the last 7 days, how much time did you spend sitting on a week day? ____hours per day ____minutes per day

<u>Sleep</u>

8. During **The last 7 days**, how many hours did you **sleep** at night? ____hours per night

SHORT LAST 7 DAYS SELF-ADMINISTERED version of the IPAQ. Revised August 2002.

Anthropometric Recording FORM

Participant ID:
Recorder ID:
Date://

Measurement	Units	*Measurement #1	*Measurement #2	*Measurement #3
Weight [measured to the nearest tenth of a kilogram (0.1 kg)]	kg			Only if difference between #1 and #2 is >0.5 kg
Height [measured to the nearest tenth of a cm (0.1 cm)]	cm			Only if difference between #1 and #2 is >0.5 cm

Note if the	Light clothing	Normal clothing	Heavy clothing	Jeans
participant is				
wearing				

COMMENTS:

APPENDIX 4 – IRB Forms



Office of Research Integrity Research Compliance, MARC 414

MEMORANDUM

To:	Dr. Cristina Palacios		
CC:	Priscilla Clayton		
From:	Maria Melendez-Vargas, MIBA, IRB Coordinator	\mathbb{W}	
Date:	October 7, 2021		
Protocol Title:	"Hydration and The Association of Body Composition and Bone Mass in		
	Children (Secondary analysis of the MetA-Bone Tri-	al).""	

The Florida International University Office of Research Integrity has reviewed your research study for the use of human subjects and deemed it Exempt via the **Exempt Review** process.

IRB Protocol Exemption #:	IRB-21-0429	IRB Exemption Date:	10/07/21
TOPAZ Reference #:	110773		

As a requirement of IRB Exemption you are required to:

- 1) Submit an IRB Exempt Amendment Form for all proposed additions or changes in the procedures involving human subjects. All additions and changes must be reviewed and approved prior to implementation.
- 2) Promptly submit an IRB Exempt Event Report Form for every serious or unusual or unanticipated adverse event, problems with the rights or welfare of the human subjects, and/or deviations from the approved protocol.
- 3) Submit an IRB Exempt Project Completion Report Form when the study is finished or discontinued.

Special Conditions: N/A

For further information, you may visit the IRB website at http://research.fiu.edu/irb

MMV/em



Office of Research Integrity Research Compliance, MARC 414

Priscilla Clayton

W

February 14, 2022

"Hydration and the association with body composition in college students"

TheInstitutional Review Board of Florida International University hasyour study for the use of human subjects via theprocess. Your study wasfound to be in compliance with this institution's Federal Wide Assurance (00000060).

01/26/22

IRB Expiration Date: 01/26/23

As a requirement of IRB Approval you are required to:

Submit an IRB Amendment Form for all proposed

Receive annual review and re-approval of your study prior to your IRB expiration date. Submit the IRB Renewal Form at least 30 days in advance of the study's expiration date. or discontinued.

HIPAA Privacy Rule:

Special Conditions:

For further information, you may visit the IRB website at http://research.fiu.edu/irb

VITA

PRISCILLA CLAYTON

Born, Calw, Germany

2012-2016	B.S., Dietetics and Nutrition Abilene Christian University, Abilene, Texas
2016-2018	M.S., Dietetics and Nutrition Florida International University, Miami, Florida
2017-2018	McNair Scholar Masters Fellow Florida International University, Miami, Florida
2017-2018	Masters student and Graduate Assistant Florida International University, Miami, Florida
2018-2022	Ph.D student and Research Assistant Florida International University, Miami Florida
2018-2022	McNair Scholar Doctoral Fellow Florida International University, Miami, Florida
2020	Recipient of the Robert Stempel College Oral Presentation Award Florida International University, Miami, Florida
2022	Recipient of the Robert Stempel College Publication Award Florida International University, Miami, Florida
2022	Recipient of the Real Triumph Graduate Award Florida International University, Miami, Florida

PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS

Clayton P, Connelly J, Ellington M, Rojas V, Trak-Fellermeier MA, and Palacios C. Facilitators and barriers of children's participation in nutrition, physical activity, and obesity interventions: A systematic review. *Obes Rev.* 2021 Sep 1:e13335.

Ellington M, Connelly J, Clayton P, Lorenzo Y, Collazo-Velazquez C, Trak-Fellermeier MA, and Palacios C. Use of social media for recruitment of participants in nutrition, obesity, and physical activity related studies: A systematic review. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2021 Oct 20:nqab352.

Dinou V, Clayton P, Macchi A, Trak-Fellermeier MA, Galván R, and Palacios C. Association between type of beverage and total water intake in children in Miami-Dade: Preliminary Data from the MetA-Bone Trial. *FIU Undergraduate Research Day*. March 2022.

Clayton P, Trak-Fellermeier MA, Macchi A, Galván R, and Palacios C. Association between hydration and body-fat percentage in children in Miami-Dade: Preliminary data from the MetA-Bone Trial. *Annual Conference of the American Society for Nutrition (ASN)*. June 2022.

Leone J, Clayton P, Macchi A, Galván R, Ramirez D, Romero J, Dinou V, Trak-Fellermeier MA, and Palacios C. Costs and Barriers Associated with the Recruitment of Children for a Nutrition Randomized Control Trial during Covid-19. *Annual Conference of the American Society for Nutrition (ASN).* June 2022.

Clayton P, Connelly J, Ellington M, Rojas V, Trak-Fellermeier M, Palacios C. Facilitators and barriers of children's participation in nutrition, physical activity, and obesity interventions: a systematic review. *Annual Conference of the American Society for Nutrition (ASN).* June 2021.

Ellington M, Connelly J, Clayton P, Collazo-Velazquez C, Lorenzo Y, Trak-Fellermeier MA, and Palacios C. A systematic review of the use of social media for recruitment of participants in nutrition, obesity, and physical activity related studies. *Annual Conference of the American Society for Nutrition (ASN)*. June 2021.

Kirchoff C, Johnson S, Lee I, Fenton T, Bolton J, Earle S, Clayton P. Navigating the food environment at a large Hispanic-serving university in south Florida: A focus group study. *American Public Health Association (APHA)*. Oct 2020.

Clayton P, Campa A, Liu Q, Martinez SS, Seminario L, Jasmin J, Hernandez J, Teeman C, Tamargo J, Huang Y, Zarini G, Baum MK. Intakes of Vitamin A and Zinc and Markers of Oxidative Stress in Newly Diagnosed HIV-positive Participants in the (MASH) Cohort. *Annual Conference of the American Society for Nutrition (ASN)*. June 2019.

Teeman C, Huang Y, Liu Q, Hernandez J, Tamargo J, Jasmin J, Seminario L, Clayton P, Zarini G, Martinez SS, Campa A, Piperato J, Baum M. Metabolic Syndrome (MetS) as a Predictor of Fatty Liver in HIV infected adults from the Miami Adult Studies on HIV (MASH) Cohort. *Annual Conference of the American Society for Nutrition (ASN)*. June 2019.

Baum MK, Sherman KE, Liu Q, Zarini G, Martinez SS, Seminario L, Jasmin J, Hernandez J, Teeman C, Tamargo J, Jaspar N, Clayton P, Greer PJ, Khalsa, Campa A. Fentanyl Use and Liver Disease in the Miami Adult Studies on HIV Infections. *Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections (CROI)*. March 2019.

Baum MK, Liu Q, Zarini G, Martinez SS, Seminario L, Jasmin J, Hernandez J, Teeman C, Tamargo J, Jaspar N, Clayton P, Greer PJ, Khalsa J, Campa A. Opioid use and liver disease in the Miami Adults Studies on HIV (MASH) Cohort. *Miami Winter Symposium (MWS)*. Jan 2019.